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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (‘Directors” and each a “Director’) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”’). The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.

Annual Report 2022 1



B #
CONTENTS

ANEER
EFERS
EEE S wm R

B QAN EREHREEASEHN

BEEIRE
EEERRE
RE-HEREARS
BB S
FeEHE R

fma MBI E

5l
254

#Eh
m

i
op
=

e
&

=

ES
ik
op
i
Kb

>

=

il

5

e M IR AR EE

e

]

455 1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2 MEBEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

16

19

29

49

66

73

75

T

78

79

164



2BEH

CORPORATE INFORMATION

RARES A

As at the date of this report

£EXg
WETES

HIRREE (ZE)

BREBA R T (T )
BERRE (BEHMEE)

HEHEE
FNFTES
B
BUFRTES
I o
SHRBRE
GRS
BIZEEY

THRBRE (/)
1o B
HERKLE

HNEES

HRIERE (Z/E)
AR ZRITE
BREFAR L
FHRESLE
HERKLE
REEEG

HEARE (Z/F)
AL
Bt
FREoL
RNEWE
BYLK S

RERR

MREFAR L
BERKE

BERXE

REFAR L

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (Chairman)
Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (Chairman)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director”) of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

In 2022, the Group undertook a planned and structured process to improve
its profitability and efficiency. The Group recorded revenue amounted to
approximately HK$368.2 million, representing an approximately 5.2% increase
as compared to that of the year ended 31 December 2021. The net profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 increased by approximately HK$3.2 million
to approximately HK$5.4 million.

In order to diversify the business portfolio of the Group to avoid
overconcentration on a single business segment and to generate more stable
returns to the Shareholders, given the current contribution of the repairs and
service support segment to the overall revenue of the Group and the relatively
high profit margin of this segment, the Group believes that there is plenty of
room for growth of the repairs and service support segment. The Group will
focus on and allocate its resources to the development of the repairs and
service support segment, in particular setting up repair centres to provide
repair services of electronic products for renowned IT brands and service
centres for its own products. Looking forward, with the relaxation of domestic
epidemic prevention policies by the Chinese government, the Group aims to
strengthen its position as corporate repair partners by setting up a repair centre
in Guangdong Province and expanding its scope of services to cover more
product types including smart devices and its related accessories.

The Group is also exploring suitable opportunities to invest in the “Circular
Economy” business segment, from providing after-sales services of third-party
IT products including computers, communications and consumer electronics
(the “8C Products”) to recycling of 3C Products to reproduce raw materials.
The management believes that making the relevant strategic investment
will enable the Group to strengthen its development foundation in “Green
Technology” and enhance the Group’s business image.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
Shareholders and business partners for their trust and support. | would also like
to salute our managers at all levels and dedicated staff of the Company for their
invaluable contributions and diligent efforts throughout the years.

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 14 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates in two business segments, namely, the sales and
distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other service
support of IT products.

Sales and distribution of IT products

The core business segment of the Group is sales and distribution of IT
products. It includes distribution of renowned third-party IT products and video
surveillance systems carrying our own brand name. The third-party IT products
are mainly used and refurbished units that are distributed through our well-
established wholesale network covering North America, Asia and Europe.

There was a surge in demand and supply in the global secondary IT products
market in 2022. With the laptop and tablet prices remaining at the higher end,
a larger share of consumers considered buying refurbished models which
allow consumers to obtain devices across all price ranges more affordably.
In addition, as greater emphasis was placed on the circular economy and
sustainability, the awareness of refurbished products has been raised during the
year and consumers were exposed to more benefits of choosing a pre-owned
device.

The sales and distribution of video surveillance systems is highly competitive, in
particular, the Group directly and indirectly competes with large global vendors
in form of pricing, range of services provided and information technology.

The Group’s advantages to compete against other global distributors are
management’s expertise and proven track record, together with being a
member of the Foxconn Technology Group that is worldwide well-known and
has strong business bond with numbers of international brands. The Group
will continue to manage its tied up working capital by improving the inventory
turnover days and mitigating the inventory risk, with an aim to shorten the cash
conversion cycle.

During the year, the Group continued to review and re-evaluate its business
model, with an aim to improve efficiency and achieve a higher profit margin.
The Group will continue to closely monitor the market situations and make
necessary adjustments to its strategies and operations.

6 MEBEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Provision of repairs and other service support of IT products

The Group provides full range of after-sales maintenance for video surveillance
products carrying our own brand name. Smart device applications were also
developed by the Group to provide remote control and monitoring of the
video surveillance products. The Group operates a repair centre and provides
end-to-end repair services, including reverse logistics, bench repair services,
spare parts storage and distribution and customer delivery. The Group aims to
provide best-in-class repair and rework services so as to ensure its customers’
issues are resolved quickly and with minimum impact to their business.

During the year, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, there was delay in the
business plan for the expansion of the repairs and service support segment,
including the set up of new repair centres. The Group will closely monitor the
market situation, assess and react actively to its impacts on planned expansion
of service support business.

Segment information by business line

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from sales and
distribution of IT products continued to be the largest source of income
which accounted for approximately 97.1% of the total revenue of the Group.
Revenue from sales and distribution of IT products is generated from sales and
distribution of third-party IT products and video surveillance products carrying
our own brand name.
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Year ended 31 December

X, =&
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FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

SHE KD HITE & Sales and distribution of IT products 357,345 345,129
B R IRFE X 1B Repairs and service support 10,815 4,741
ABUT A Total revenue 368,160 349,870
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The revenue generated from repairs and service support increased from
approximately HK$4,741,000 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$10,815,000 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The increase in revenue from this segment was mainly due to the expanded
service support of electronic products in addition to video surveillance products
carrying our own brand name.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segment information by geographical location
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Year ended 31 December
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e United States 207,417 110,621
=b Taiwan 74,070 73,216
&8 Hong Kong 38,839 106,073
fa7 B Netherlands 31,250 52,542
B Australia 7,164 4,344
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FR & 7 Mainland China 4 17
Hith Others 2,388 3,057
BT A Total revenue 368,160 349,870
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the United States, Taiwan and
Hong Kong continued to be the top three markets of the Group in terms of
their respective contribution to the revenue of the Group. The United States
market was the largest market and contributed approximately 56.3% (2021:
31.6%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The Taiwan market contributed approximately 20.1% (2021: 20.9%) of the
Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Hong Kong
market contributed approximately 10.5% (2021: 30.3%) and the Netherlands
market contributed approximately 8.5% (2021: 15.0%) of the Group’s total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Australia market was
steadily growing during the year and contributed approximately 1.9% (2021:
1.2%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Group has also expanded its distribution business to Japan which contributed
approximately 1.9% (2021: Nil) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2022. The change in the composition of the revenue was due to
the change of product mix driven by the demand and supply of the IT products
in each of the geographical location.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Building upon the experience of the management team in international
distribution, the Group has further expanded its consumer electronics product
offering in multi-jurisdictions that are complementary to its current business
offering. 3C Products are mainly used and refurbished units. Through the
Group’s international distribution channels, the Group extends the 3C Products
useful life in the post-sales circular economy.

8 MEBEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT (continued)

The Group also launched several new products, including security camera with
artificial intelligence detection, 4K DVR equipped with smart statistics functions
for people/vehicles counts within a preset period and 4K professional mobile
digital video recorder running on mobile network designed for vehicle security
and fleet management.

BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group may not be able to keep up with technological changes in
the video surveillance industry in order to remain competitive

The Group has continuously invested in research and development to develop
updates and new products in order to maintain the Group’s competitive edge
in the market. The performance of the Group depends on the Group’s ability to
develop updates to its existing products and to develop new products, which
in turn is determined by the Group’s research efforts to develop technologies
which keep up with the latest technological trends in the industry and the
Group’s timely recruitment of personnel with the relevant skills. The effect of
emerging and future technological changes in relation to product specifications
to the Group’s research and development plans or the level of technologies is
unpredictable.

In addition, our competitors may develop technologies and products that are
superior to ours in terms of quality and/or price. Failure to respond to the
technological developments and maintain or enhance our competitiveness
within the industry or maintain our customer base may result in decrease in
profit margins and loss of market share, and our financial performance and
profitability may be adversely affected.

The Group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses
associated with its business operations

The Group maintains insurance policies against loss or damage to its office
and business interruption, public liability and employees’ compensation. The
insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all the risks associated with
the Group’s business and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured
loss or a loss in excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural
disasters and other events beyond the Group’s control, the Group may be
required to pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial conditions and
results of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the Group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the Group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the Group considers that the current insurance coverage

is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the Group will review its
insurance policies from time to time.

Annual Report 2022 9
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group expects to face intense competition in the IT product distribution
business and will modify its operations in response to technological advances,
increased competition, and stakeholder expectations. The Group is undertaking
a planned and structured process to improve its profitability and efficiency.

In order to diversify the business portfolio of the Group to avoid
overconcentration on a single business segment and to generate more stable
returns to the Shareholders, given the current contribution of the repairs and
service support segment to the overall revenue of the Group and the relatively
high profit margin of this segment, the Group believes that there is plenty of
room for growth of the repairs and service support segment. The Group will
focus on and allocate its resources to the development of the repairs and
service support segment, in particular setting up repair centres to provide
repair services of electronic products for renowned IT brands and service
centres for its own products. Looking forward, with the relaxation of domestic
epidemic prevention policies by the Chinese government, the Group aims
to strengthen its position as corporate repair partners by setting up a repair
centre in Guangdong Province and expanding its scope of services to cover
more product types including smart devices and its related accessories. The
management will closely monitor the market situation, assess and react actively
to its impacts on the financial position and operating results of the Group.

The Group is also exploring suitable opportunities to invest in the “Circular
Economy” business segment, from providing after-sales services of 3C
products to recycling of 3C products to reproduce raw materials. The
management believes that making the relevant strategic investment will enable
the Group to strengthen its development foundation in “Green Technology” and
enhance the Group’s business image.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group mainly engages in two business segments, namely, (i) sales and
distribution of IT products; and (ii) repairs and service support. The Group’s
total revenue amounted to approximately HK$368,160,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022, representing a slight increase of approximately 5.2% as
compared to that of approximately HK$349,870,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021. The increase in revenue was mainly driven by the increase in
revenue from the sales and distribution of IT products segment attributable to
the increase in demand and supply in the global secondary IT products market
as more particularly explained in “Business Review”.

Cost of sales

A major component of the cost of sales was the cost of inventories. In line
with the increase in business volume, the cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2022 increased to approximately HK$341,591,000, representing
an increase of approximately 5.3%, as compared to that of approximately
HK$324,322,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. There was a net
inventory provision (included in the cost of sales) of approximately HK$46,000
as compared to a net inventory provision of approximately HK$370,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to account for the decrease in slow-moving
inventories during the year.
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BEERARRAH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A 75 [0l B8 )
ERRERE

HE_S-_—_HF+_HA=+—HIEE  EFEMDH
1,021,000 7T £4926,569,0008 7T (ZT - —F :
25,548,000 7T) » MEK SR M — R -BEREFH X
HEE _ S _—F+_A=+—HLEFENL7.3%
BEEHE_ T - _F+_HA=+—BHLEEMY
7.2% BEERHPREMNEENEERBEKRBNEE
—E_ &+ "H=+—HIEE-

HERDHAX

FRAEBBHEHBE R DR HIHAS9.8% &
EE_HF+RB=1+—HIEFE  HEKRDHFE
SR E#5,518,00058 T (Z B —4 : 9,171,000
T0) cSHERDERLYEERZNAETIMA _FRH
El B EGREEAUREHER NAEE  ~E
BEHRHERDBEERER ) LIRERRITHE
B TR ~ 5% o] WL B BB IR BR Al s ©

THER

BHE_ S+ _B=1+—HILEE - THERH
#914,870,00078 JTBEMUR /L #94.6% £ 4914,181,000
B oBEESENENREREENM B ~E
BABNBETHRERRFTENERASLH & ERKE
IKIE o

FrRaF)

% B8 FE {5 40 A1) 12 10 493,189,000 75 £ 495,421,000
ToHRNEBMEIESRIBE RDHEAXZ BT 5
EANRIEEN15% (T —F:0.6%) o AEH
RE BIENRSEAADE=ZFEREFAPEZ
SEEEE_S__FENRA=Z1TRHILEAERZHH
HiEAE-—NETELEK-

RIZZ -5 BREABIIEE2313B> M_F
——F79.52H8

FEREWIRR

RIEZ_HF+"RA=+—H FEKFREHD
1,563,000 Tt (ZE-—&F+ZA=+—H8":
55,625,000 70) - FEMEHABBLIARKEES
BEXBACUMREFEEE ARERREER
Wi DB AR AERRRFEREFEKTRER
FERE EEEEREEEER-

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by approximately HK$1,021,000 to approximately
HK$26,569,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$25,548,000), which was in line with the increase in business volume.
The overall gross profit margin slightly decreased from approximately 7.3%
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 7.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the weaker in demand for
smart devices in the European market when compared to the year ended 31
December 2021.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group managed to cut its selling and distribution expenses by
approximately 39.8% for the year. Selling and distribution expenses decreased
to approximately HK$5,518,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$9,171,000). A major component of the selling and distribution expenses
was staff costs, take-back and data wiping cost for used devices and
warehousing charges. During the year, the Group has re-designed its business
model for the sales and distribution business to improve efficiency and to save
staff costs and devices take-back and data wiping cost.

Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2022, administrative expenses slightly
decreased by approximately 4.6% from approximately HK$14,870,000 to
approximately HK$14,181,000. With improvements in operating efficiencies and
rigorous financial policy, the Group has been able to keep its administrative
expenses reasonably low at less than 5% to the revenue.

Net profit for the year

Net profit attributable to the Shareholders increased by approximately
HK$3,189,000 to approximately HK$5,421,000. Net profit margin for the year
increased to approximately 1.5% (2021: 0.6%) as a result of the improved
operation efficiency and decrease in selling and distribution expenses. The
Group considers that the increase in profitability is generally in line with and
comparable with the financial figures for the Group for the nine months ended
30 September 2022 as disclosed in the third quarterly report of the Company.

Basic earnings per share increased to HK23.13 cents in 2022, compared with
HK9.52 cents in 2021.

Inventories and trade receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the inventory level decreased to approximately
HK$1,563,000 (31 December 2021: HK$55,525,000). The significant reduction
in inventory balance was attributable to strengthened inventory management
through reducing the inventory turnover days, which helps release investment
capital and reduces warehousing costs. The Group will continue to monitor the
inventory level and reduce the inventory risk, with an aim to shorten the cash
conversion cycle.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Inventories and trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables dropped to approximately HK$6,656,000 as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: HK$13,403,000). Such decrease in
trade receivables was attributable to the Group’s execution of strict control
on credit line granted to customers. During the year, customers of the Group
maintain good credit history and no material impairment of trade receivables is
recognised.

Key financial performance

The above financial data were chosen to be presented in this annual report
as they represent a material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current financial year and/or the previous
financial year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that the Group can effectively explain the financial
performance of the Group for the year by presenting the changes of these
financial data.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. It shall consider, the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

- the general financial condition of the Group;

- the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

- the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

- the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

- the restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders (if any);

- the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

- the general market conditions; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2022, the Group employed 17 (31 December 2021: 20)
employees in Hong Kong and 15 (31 December 2021: 15) employees in the
People’s Republic of China and overseas offices. The staff costs of the Group,
including directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and commissions,
retirement benefit scheme contributions and other benefits amounted to
approximately HK$12,227,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
approximately HK$13,408,000).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance, also taking into account the prevailing market rates to ensure
competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as medical insurance, retirement
benefits and discretionary bonus are offered to all employees.

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development
so that the employees are better equipped and work efficiently which are
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types based on target and purpose: internal training
and external training. For example, external training programmes related to
Dangerous Goods Regulations are attended by our employees who need
to deal with those IT products that should be handled with care. Whereas
for internal training, the Company organises team building activities and
workshops regularly in the Hong Kong office in order to enhance team spirit.
The Group supports staff training programmes by offering employees to attend
continuing professional development and training courses during working days
and training sponsorship.

A share option scheme was approved and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 11 November 2016.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group financed its daily
operations with internally generated resources. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had net current assets of approximately HK$142,314,000 (31 December
2021: approximately HK$125,266,000) and cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$138,122,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$98,850,000). The Group had no borrowings outstanding as at 31
December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio, which is calculated on the basis
of total debts over total equity of the Group, was approximately 8.3% (2021:
approximately 53.4%).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had an authorised share capital of
HK$80,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.20
each, of which 23,433,783 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were in
issue. No convertible securities options, warrants or similar rights by the
Company or its subsidiaries were outstanding during the year.

The Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the year ended 31
December 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, no bank deposit was pledged to a bank for bank
facility. As at 31 December 2021, a bank deposit of US$4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$31,194,000) was pledged to a bank for the bank facility
amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,388,000)
granted to the Group. Such bank facility was drawn by the Group to issue a
standby letter of credit to the key supplier of the Group in the financial year
ended 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

To continue executing its investment plan of augmenting its international
distribution and fulfilment capabilities, the Group may, depending on
circumstances and market conditions, consider the need for fundraising and/
or financing from time to time in order to strengthen its human resources,
plant and equipment and working capital. This will enable the Group to not
only serve the distribution and fulfilment requirements of its own products, but
also acquire the capabilities to support strategic third-party business partners
with innovative revenue models with a view to delivering enhanced value to the
Shareholders.

In addition, to accelerate the Group’s capabilities to offer innovative revenue
models in relation to IT hardware distribution and fulfilment support, the Board
may contemplate selective strategic investments by means of stock and/or
cash when suitable opportunities arise.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan, US and Europe with most
of the transactions settled in HK$, United States dollars (‘USD”) and Euro. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to USD and Euro. The management has a policy to manage the
foreign exchange risk against the functional currencies of the Group. It mainly
includes managing the foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and would consider the use
of foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign exchange risks, where
appropriate. The Group did not enter into any foreign currency derivative
financial instruments for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group did not
use any financial instruments for hedging purposes during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai GE#2 %) (“Mr. Hong”), aged 67 was re-designated as
an executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board on 31 May
2019. Mr. Hong is the chief financial officer of New PCEBG, a business group
of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. (“Hon Hai”), and the supervisor of
HONGFUJIN Precision Industry (Wuhan) Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of Hon Hai.
Mr. Hong was previously a senior financial director in Philips group between
1979 and 2003, where he was responsible for finance and accounting for the
administration division of the aforesaid company in Chungli, Taiwan. Mr. Hong
holds a master’s degree in the Department of EMBA in the National Chengchi
University of Taiwan.

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Ff%%3f) (“Ms. Chen”), aged 60, was appointed
as an executive Director on 10 June 2016 and the chief executive officer of
the Company, the compliance officer of the Company on 15 May 2020. She
is a senior director of Hon Hai and the Head of its Global Service Solutions
Division. She was previously a manager in Foxconn Assembly LLC. during
2003 and 2007, where she was responsible for cost management for the
Global Service Solutions Division in Houston Site. Ms. Chen worked in Intoka
Inc. as a software developer from 1997 to 2001 where she was
primarily responsible for developing software resources management systems.
Ms. Chen was previously a researcher in the Department of Meteorology in the
University of Utah between 1995 to 1996 and an associate researcher at the
Central Weather Bureau in Taiwan from 1987 to 1992. Ms. Chen obtained a
postgraduate degree in Atmospheric Sciences from National Taiwan University
in 1987.

Software,

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (& 1&) (“Mr. Han”), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive Director and chief financial officer on 31 May 2019. He is the finance
manager of New PCEBG, a business group of Hon Hai. Mr. Han worked in
a managerial grade position in the assurance department of an international
accounting firm from 2006 to 2008. He was previously the finance manager
of Ever-Island Group, where he was responsible for finance and accounting
work of the abovementioned company in Suzhou and Dongguan, China. Mr.
Han holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from National Chengchi University
in Taiwan and a master’s degree in financial engineering from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (2% %) (“Mr. Tsai”), aged 61, was appointed as an
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He was the group chief operating officer
of Noah Holdings Limited, a leading Chinese private wealth management firm
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from 2012 to 2018. Prior to that, Mr.
Tsai was the chief operating officer and executive vice president of Yuanta
Securities, a top securities firm in Taiwan, from 2008 to 2011 and the North
Asia chief operating officer of RBS&ABN AMRO from 1997 to 2008. Between
1989 and 1997, Mr. Tsai worked for leading financial institutions such as
American Express Financial Advisors and Household Finance Corporation in
the United States. Mr. Tsai holds a master’s degree in chemical engineering
from University of Southern California and a master’s degree in business
administration from University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the United
States.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kao Chao Yang (588 ¥) (“Mr. Kao”), age 54, was appointed as an non-
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He has over 24 years of experience in
the electronic, manufacturing and information technology industry. Mr. Kao
is currently an executive director of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(Stock code: 1037), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He has been the vice president of Foxconn Technology Group
since 2015. Mr. Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations of New
PCEBG, which is both a key business and strategic division responsible for
driving initiatives across several significant areas of manufacturing and supply
chain management (fulfillment and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr.
Kao held various duties within Foxconn Group including start-up manufacturing
sites, directing supply chain operations, business account management with
global customer presence and administering information technology initiatives
across China, US, Czech Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of
Science in industrial & operations engineering from the University of Michigan
in the United States of America and a Bachelor of Science in industrial design
from Cheng-Kung University in Taiwan.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (13 {£%) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 65, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2016. He was an
independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group
Limited since December 2013 until his resignation upon its cancellation of
listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 July 2021. Mr. Yeung holds a
bachelor of laws degree from the University of London and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong. He is a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung is a partner of Hau, Lau, Li & Yeung solicitors
and has been practicing as a solicitors for over 32 years.

Mr. Yeung is currently an independent non-executive director of CCIAM Future
Energy Limited (stock code: 0145), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li, Robin Kit Ling (ZEE) (“Mr. Li”), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Li holds a
degree of Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia,
Canada and a degree of Master of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Li is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia. Mr. Li has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management. He had held senior positions in accounting and
finance in large corporations and multinationals, including Towona Media
Holding Company Limited, News Corporation Limited, Pepsi-Cola International,
and Apple Computer International Limited. Mr. Li also worked as a lecturer in
several accounting programmes of HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education, and a part-time lecturer at FTMS Training Systems (HK) Ltd for the
preparatory ACCA examination courses.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (&# ZE 7) (“Mr. Miao”), aged 48, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 27 June 2016. He is currently the
managing director and Head of Corporate Finance at the Hong Kong Branch of
Cathay United Bank and is responsible for its international investment banking
business. Mr. Miao was formerly a Senior Portfolio Manager with the Dutch
pension asset manager APG Asset Management Asia and was responsible
for originating, structuring and executing direct and fund investments in Asia-
Pacific. Prior to that, Mr. Miao was an investment director with the China-
ASEAN Fund where he was involved in originating, structuring and executing
direct private equity investments in the ASEAN region. He also worked
previously as a Vice President at Citigroup within its Investment Banking and
Fixed Income divisions in New York, Australia and Hong Kong. Mr. Miao has
a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from California State Polytechnic
University — Pomona, and a MBA from Pennsylvania State University. He is also
a Chartered Financial Analyst.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (&%) (“Mr. Tam”), aged 35, is the financial controller
of the Group since May 2017. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting,
financial control matters, and corporate secretarial matters of the Group. Mr.
Tam has more than 12 years of experience in accounting and auditing fields in
Hong Kong since 2010. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in a managerial
grade position in the assurance department of an international accounting firm.
Mr. Tam obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from University of New
South Wales, Australia, in August 2010. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ka Ho (f1Z&X %) (“Mr. Ho”), aged 51, is the chief executive officer of
the video surveillance business line. Mr. Ho has over 28 years of experience in
computer architecture, software engineering and digital signal processing. Mr.
Ho obtained his bachelor of engineering degree in computer engineering with

first class honours and master of science degree in electronic engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2022 by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 73.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 amounted to HK$6,000 (2021: HK$46,000).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No Shares were issued in the year ended 31 December 2022. Reference is
made to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2022 comprise of share
premium, and accumulated loss in aggregate amounted to HK$105,165,000
(2021: HK$108,417,000) provided that, after distribution, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in its ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 164 of the annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in the annual general meeting
held on 11 November 2016. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and
service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think
fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or adviser
of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of
the Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine
in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the share option scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days, inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of
option(s) is HK$1.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The share option scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an
option must be held. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The share option scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on 11
November 2016 and will expire at the close of business on 10 November 2026.
Under the said scheme and following the share consolidation, the maximum
number of shares of the Company that may be issued upon the exercise of
options that may be granted is 1,673,841 shares, representing approximately
7.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted under the
share option scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan, Mr. Kao Chao Yang and Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
will retire from office by rotation. They, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election pursuant to Article 84(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

All the Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a
party and in which a Director of the Company or an entity connected with a
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 December 2022 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any rights
to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
page 16 to 18 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company is interested in or has short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required under Divisions
7 and 8 of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required under Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

RRHBZEE Long position in Shares
% NG|
e HE#EE BEITRAE
RR& B 514 ZKRHBEE B L (8 4)
Percentage
of the issued
share capital
Number of of the
Shares held/ Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited Beneficial owner 11,853,524 50.58%
BmEAA
Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 11,853,524 50.58%
BERELXRNAERAR RIEGEE R
Wizt Note:

Foxconn (Far East) Limited 3 8 /8 &% TERMHBBRAE (T8

B/ CRARAEEMBIZABTNAERERZM N
(AP AEE - 2817.TW)) 2 2 BB AT o IRIREH R IBEK
B > JB S H AR A FFoxconn (Far East) Limited$¥ A Z B& 15
B

BREXFREEN  R-_FT__F+-A=+—8"
BEEFEMAL EFRERBEHTHABRKRIN
MERRBRBRAAAERAERB RGO RAEBRKRM D
BEEBSRPEBRAEXVBFE2RIDHFBRXIETR
BN IREE S R ERAIE336MFMEFEZE A
ZERBmIRE

BEEEN

FRBESSUNFEETAEREATES
AREBZEERITHEH

BENERE

Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co.,
Ltd. (the “Hon Hai”), a company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2317.TW). Hon Hai is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Foxconn (Far East) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company and the
Stock Exchange had not been notified by any other persons (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in any Shares and the underlying shares of the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 56.9%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 94.7%
Sales
— the largest customer 27.8%
— five largest customers in aggregate 71.3%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, who owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Service Framework Agreement

On 14 January 2020, the Company entered into a service framework
agreement (the “Service Framework Agreement”) with Fuhongjie Technology
Service Limited Company (‘Fuhongjie”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hon Hai). As at the date of this report, Hon Hai is a controlling shareholder of
the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder”) indirectly holding 50.58% of the
issued shares of the Company.

Pursuant to the Service Framework Agreement, Fuhongjie agreed to provide
maintenance and value-added services for mobile phone, mobile phone
display, and Bluetooth earpieces, including checking, maintenance, assembly,
testing and packaging to the Group (the “Services Transactions”) for a term
from 3 March 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps of the Services
Framework Agreement (the “Service Caps”) for the financial years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$55,000,000, HK$61,000,000 and
HK$67,000,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Service Caps
under the Service Framework Agreement, as all of the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the Services Caps are higher than 5% and more than
HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Service Transactions are subject to
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As a result,
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company was convened on 3 March
2020 where the independent Shareholders approved the Service Framework
Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Sale Framework Agreement

On 3 July 2020, the Company entered into a sale framework agreement (the
“Sale Framework Agreement”) with Hon Hai.

Pursuant to the Sale Framework Agreement, the Group may sell IT products,
including but not limited to raw materials and electronic parts, to Hon Hai and
its subsidiaries and associates (the “Hon Hai Group”), and Hon Hai Group
may purchase the IT products from the Group (the “Sale Transactions”)
for a term from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps of the
Sale Framework Agreement (the “Sale Caps”) for the financial years ended
31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$8,900,000, HK$9,400,000 and
HK$9,800,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Sale
Caps under the Sale Framework Agreement, as the highest applicable
percentage ratio in respect of the Sale Caps are more than 5% but less than
25% and the Sale Caps are less than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis,
the Sale Transactions are only subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements but is exempt from the independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the Group’s continuing
connected transactions with Fuhongjie and Hon Hai Group during the reporting
year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction amount of the
Group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed the respective annual
caps.

g s T
FELR BERRZEHE
Actual

Transaction

Annual Caps Amount for

for 2022 2022
FAET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
HETRMG With Fuhongjie

— HEERRTS — Repair services 67,000 261
(Note 1)
(HtaE1)

SREER With Hon Hai Group
—HE - Sales 9,800 190
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year
(continued)

Note 1:

During the year, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, there was delay in the business plan for
the expansion of the above repair and spare parts fulfillment business. The Group will closely
monitor the market situation, assess and react actively to its impacts on planned expansion
of service support business.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that all
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting year
were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in according with the relevant agreements
governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of Shareholders as a whole. Moreover, the Company’s auditor has provided
an unqualified letter to the Board containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
reporting year in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance between the Company or one of
its subsidiaries on one hand, and a Controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or for the year ended 31 December
2022. There was also no other contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during or at the end of the same period.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, with reference to confirmation which, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

26 MEBEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



ESEHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEREREEAEZHMER

ERBEEERSREEABZHMN B R QBB
ZEg ((FNEEE)) NEBARAZKEXE R
AR KRAIE LR HIHA st BURRET R

PR

BE_ZE-__F+-B=+—HIEFE - EF -ER
KERIFEES BRI R A (EXFBGEM LR 8
WMREAREBRETER - BB ES MNP A A
BRHEREZEBPEREMAER -

RARNREGRE

REAATZ ABANRAEENA > A AT RDH
A TR AR B R A6 1 B B E BT R 5 25%8 B
HARFRE -

EEER

ARBHRMZEBEEER
EQ=PE =

EEFFRIBERX

REABDREEFA @B ETFNBERY (EER
BB EGFE6228 A BMFHI554691%) IRIEEMKRI A
FERNBR-

ERE|NF29FE48E 1

RIGHERR KRR

AERRNIRHAEEMEINRENHENRENRF
BER - AEBECEHREETRMIRFREB BN
(BEEROK -HERRREREN) - FREE
ENEE BEEMAA FEERBEZT "
+TZA=+-—HLEEE—EHEEBTERRRNFMAR
BE B R IR o

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”), having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors, Controlling
Shareholder or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) has any interests in a business that competes or may compete either
directly or indirectly with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 48.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the
existing Directors of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout this year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Green initiatives and measures including
recycling of resources, energy saving and eco-friendly management practice,
have been adopted in the daily operation of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised laws and
regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of its business depends on the
support from its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers,
banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure
effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group had no other significant event subsequent to the year ended 31
December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
on page 5 and page 6 respectively of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group can be found in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis using financial key
performance indicators can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 6 to 15 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by BDO who will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the three financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022, the
Company did not change its auditors.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2023
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Board and senior management of the Company commits to achieve a high
standard of corporate governance, to maintain good corporate governance
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in operations and
to strengthen the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time so as to protect the rights of the Shareholders and enhance Shareholder
value. This corporate governance report helps the Shareholders to understand
and evaluate the corporate governance practices of the Company.

Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules sets out the principles of good
corporate governance. The Company has adopted the principles and the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Part 2 of Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
has complied with the code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL” below for details.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board and the Management

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring the business and performance
of the Group. During the year, the Board reviewed and approved the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, quarterly results
of the Group for three months ended 31 March 2022, interim results of the
Group for six months ended 30 June 2022 and quarterly results of the Group
for nine months ended 30 September 2022. It also reviewed and proposed for
the adoption of the amended and restated articles of association at the annual
general meeting of the Company held during the year. The Board has delegated
the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the chief executive officer and senior management of the Group.

Composition of the Board

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises of 8 Directors, consisting
of 4 executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-
executive Directors, whose names, roles and functions are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
(chairman of the Board and member of Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
(Chief Executive Officer, member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
(chairman of Remuneration Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
(chairman of Audit Committee, member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
(chairman of Nomination Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

In compliance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
is the chairman of the Board and Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan is the chief executive
officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”). The chairman is
primarily responsible for providing leadership to the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer is primarily responsible for overseeing and leading the day-to-
day operation with the assistance of senior management. The roles of chairman
and chief executive officer are separate and performed by different persons to
ensure balance of power and authority. During the year, the chairman of the
Board held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors on 21 March 2022. An updated list of Directors is
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Representation of Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The culture of openness at the
Board facilitates effective communication and contribution of the Directors.
Independent non-executive Directors represent not less than one-third of the
Board and provide independent views and opinions to the Board in decision
making. The independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on
various committees of the Company as detailed above. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communication
pursuant to code provision B.1.1 of the CG Code.

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are considered.
All independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management experience. None of
the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Representation of Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent non-
executive Directors are made available to the Board, the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the Board assess the
Directors’ independence of the independent non-executive Directors annually
with regards to all relevant factors related to the independent non-executive
Directors including the following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to fulfill
their roles;

o time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

o firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-

executive Directors; and

o no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of their
independent judgement.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having considered the above factors and the
independence confirmation, the Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Nomination and Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and
nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board as additional directors or to fill casual vacancies.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code. The Director
Nomination Policy sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to
nomination and appointment of Directors and the considerations for Board
succession planing and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and Board Diversity (continued)

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion, referral by
management and external recruitment agents. The Nomination Committee
may also receive nomination of candidates for election as Director(s) from
shareholder(s).

After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will consider the
biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the candidates based
on certain criteria and make recommendation to the Board accordingly.

A range of factors are taken into consideration to identify a suitably qualified
candidate. These include:—

- character and integrity of the candidate;

- educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are
relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

- time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into consideration
the other duties of the candidates; and

- the board diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the implementation of
the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate from time to time, and will report
to the Board annually. During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the Director Nomination Policy and considered it effective.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to the quality of its performance. The board diversity policy sets out some
guidelines for the composition of the Board in order to achieve diversity in the
Board. The Company aims to have a diverse Board composition measurable
by objective criteria, including gender, age, length of service in the Group,
educational background and professional qualifications. Given the nature of
the business of the Group, the Company considers that it is beneficial for
the Board to have some members with experience and qualification in the
information technology industry, in addition to members with financial and legal
qualification.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Nomination and Board Diversity (continued)

The Board recognises the benefits of gender diversity. It has female
representation on the Board since 2016. While the Board considers that gender
diversity may bring more diversified views at Board level, gender is not the
only factor to be taken into account in considering appointment to the Board.
Appointment is made on merits after considering a number of factors including
the educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge of
the candidate. Hence, the Board does not set any particular targets on the
number of female representation at the Board. The Board and the Nomination
Committee will closely monitor and review from time to time the composition of
the Board and will take into account the board diversity policy including gender
diversity in considering appointment to the Board with an aim to maintaining
female representation at the Board.

As at 31 December 2022, gender ratio is approximately 24(male):8(female)
in workforce and approximately 8 (male):1 (female) in senior management.
The Company has not set any objectives for gender ratio in workforce or in
senior management. Appointment is primarily made on merits of the candidate
after considering a number of factors including the educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge of the candidate.

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major diversified
perspectives was summarised as follows:

EEEHES T
Board Diversity
FFHITES BIFRITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

BRFSEPR (FF)
Length of Service (Year)

HERS

Educational Background

=

. 7%
Professional Industry

Postgraduate

TRl

Finance

ITHE

IT Hardware
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and Board Diversity (continued)

The Company will continue to use its best efforts to maintain a diverse Board
measurable by objectives which are appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Appointment to the Board will be based on merit and contribution
a candidate may bring to the Board, having due regards for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board according to the board diversity
policy of the Company, and is of the opinion that the structure of the Board is
reasonable, and the experiences and skills of the Directors in various aspects
and fields can enable the Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Term of Appointment and Rotation

The current Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial term of one year. Please refer to the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Letters of Appointment” of the Directors’ Report for details on the
service contracts/letters of appointment of Directors who served the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company provides that at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan, Mr. Kao Chao Yang and Mr.
Yeung Wai Hung Peter will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. They, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
pursuant to Article 84(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that the
above-mentioned Directors are eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the
respective Director against the selection criteria mentioned above and the
independence of Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings

During the year, the Board held regular meetings at approximately bimonthly
intervals with participation by a majority of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 4 Board meetings, 4 Audit
Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting and 1 Nomination
Committee meeting were held. The attendance record of each Director at
meetings of the Board and the Board committees and at general meeting(s)
during the year are set out below:

HEER BERH
Attendance/Number of meeting
REBE 5% BKEEE HWNZEg R4%ZEE
AE g3 g& g3 g5
Annual Audit Remuneration Nomination
general Board Committee = Committee = Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
HiITES Executive Directors
BINREE (FE) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) 11 4/4  N/A REMH 11 NATEA
WAL L (FTEHRE) Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan 1/1 44 N/A THER 1/1 1/1
(Chief Executive Officer)
BERRE (BEHFKE) Mr. Han Chun-Wei 11 44  NATEHR NATER NATHEH
(Chief Financial Officer)
BRHLE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann 1/1 44  NATEB NATER NATER
FHTER Non-executive Director
BRFERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang 0/1 04  NARER NAXER NATHEH
BiIERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRIERE FHZE581E) Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 1/1 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
THRBEE (BEZEETE) Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 0/1 4/4 4/4 11 1/
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
EXLE EHEZEEEFE) Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 0/1 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1

AEMEEBEREEET

SHEHHGEBNEIMER

= )
HIEFREER-

(Chairman of Nomination Committee)

ZEainfftE

AABZHEBERMUEERRMRE ERESENH

EAHESURSIEABRBABEREER =
BIETEANH

RUERRBLATAE

i 2R 5

Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary and available for

inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors.

The Company'’s articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors to

abstain from voting and not to be counted towards the quorum at meetings for

the purposes of approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Induction, Continuous Training and Professional
Development

The Company will organise an induction for newly appointed Directors in order
to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and basic knowledge on insider dealings and responsibilities of
directors pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws in Hong
Kong.

The Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations, roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities of directors as well as the latest amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules.

RESEERIEY

Type of continuous professional

- Directors development programmes
HIA RS Mr. Hong Sung-Tai B
[E3- ke dam Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan B
BERLE Mr. Han Chun-Wei B
ERELEE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann B
= RBFESLE Mr. Kao Chao Yang B
A=Y e Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter A, B
EmBRE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling B
mERKLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben B
Myt - Notes:

A: HEARESRESRENAS S HETEH/ A attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the business or

= directors’ duties

B: RESETEARHER

&

B: reading regulatory updates
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Directors’ Induction, Continuous Training and Professional
Development (continued)

To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is supported by three
Board committees, namely the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
The terms of reference for the abovementioned committees are published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr.
Miao Benny Hua-ben, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/or senior
management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance may be invited to
attend meetings of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee normally meets
four times a year and also meets the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors. The Audit Committee held four meetings
during the year.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing and
monitoring the financial and internal control aspects, risk management system,
audit plan and relationship with external auditors, arrangements for employees
of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, and internal control or other matters of the Company.
The Audit Committee reviews the truth and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements, annual report, interim report and quarterly reports,
discusses with the external auditors the nature and scope of audit before the
audit commences as well as the findings and recommendations raised by
the auditors during and after completion of the audit. The Audit Committee
conducts an assessment, at least annually, of the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and financial controls system, risk management system, scope
of work and appointment of external auditors and arrangements for employees
to raise concerns about possible improprieties. This allows the Board to
monitor the Group’s overall financial position and to protect its assets. The
chairman of the Audit Committee summarises activities of the Audit Committee,
highlights issues arising therefrom, and provides recommendations for reporting
to the Board after each meeting.

The external auditors perform independent statutory audit on the Group’s
financial statements and as part of the audit engagement, report to the Audit
Committee any significant deficiencies (if any) in the Group’s internal control
system which might come to their attention during the course of audit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021, quarterly results of the Group for three
months ended 31 March 2022, interim results of the Group for six months
ended 30 June 2022 and quarterly results of the Group for nine months ended
30 September 2022, including the consolidated statement of financial position,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement
of changes in equity and related notes thereto. The Audit Committee also
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems. Please refer to the
paragraph headed “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL” below for
details.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, members of the Remuneration
Committee were Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (chairman), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling,
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Hong Sung-Tai and Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (each an executive Director). The
Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
formulating remuneration policy for the approval of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management, making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
of executive Directors, approved the terms of the service contracts of
the executive Directors, and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management.

Director are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance. The prevailing market rates are also taken into account to
ensure competitiveness of the remuneration package. Other benefits such as
discretionary bonus are offered to the Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two Directors) of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

EREEEAY

Number of senior management

Z%1,000,000% 7T
1,000,001 4 75 £ 1,500,0007% 75

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 =

RELZEEE

RBEEEEEREFEERTRITAIKREB.3. 1%
PN EE R E o

BHE_ T+ _RB=+—HLEEE - ERZE
BREAHEARE (R BREBLE -ZHE
4 (BEABUFNTES) REFARE BTE
) RLEZEENREHEBIT—REE-

RAZEENIERESBEBRIEFTGNER &
ERUANEEEEZBHEAN LB IIFENTE
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MILMEZGREES LB FRTESRZE
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (each an independent non-executive Director) and
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (an executive Director). The Nomination Committee
held one meeting during the years.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to implement the
Company’s Board diversity policy by reviewing the composition of the Board,
identifying suitable candidates for the appointment and re-election of Directors,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
monitoring the succession planning of Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee evaluated the Directors standing for
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 May 2022
against the selection criteria mentioned in the paragraph headed “Nomination
and Board Diversity” above and made recommendations to the Board on the
same, and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each of the Directors has confirmed that during his/her
tenure as Director for the year ended 31 December 2022, he/she had fully
complied with the required standard of dealings and there was no event of non-
compliance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, continuous professional development of Directors, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the Company’s compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitoring
and review of the Group’s risk management, and internal control systems to
ensure their effectiveness and efficiency. The objective of internal control is
to safeguard the Company’s assets and ensure its accounting records are
properly maintained, so that all the financial information is accurate and reliable.
The Group has adopted a series of internal control policies and procedures
designed to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives
including effective and efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. All employees are committed
to continually enhancing the risk management measures to ensure that these
measures work in line with the growth of the Group’s business strategies and
are integrated into day-to-day operation of the business. The Board together
with the Audit Committee annually review its risk management and internal
control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The objectives of the risk management and internal control of the Group
include:

establishing and constantly improving the risk management and internal
control system;

o ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

o implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that
covers every aspect of the business; and

o managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and providing reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In order to continually improve the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, the Group has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
The key procedures that the Group has established and implemented are
summarised as follows:

o segregating duties and functions of the respective operational
departments of the Group;

o reviewing systems and procedures to identify, measure, manage and
control risks; and

o updating the staff handbook, internal control manual and compliance
manual where there are changes to business environment or regulatory
guidelines.

The Board, by the top-down approach, has a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
business strategies of the Group.

Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks
and designing, implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The process involves the maintenance of staff
handbook, internal control manual and compliance manual setting out the
particulars of material risks together with the control measures as reported by
significant departments of the Group. This bottom-up approach is integrated
into day-to-day operation and complements the top-down strategic view by
identifying the principal risks and ensuring the significant risks to be considered
by the Board in determining the risk appetite and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. Such risks would
include, amongst others, material risks relating to the environment, society and
governance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
The diagram below summarises the complementary top-down and bottom-

up aspects of the integrated approach of the Group to risk management and
internal control.
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Reporting on Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
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Risk Management Strategy

Guidelines for implementing business

B & ERRHR TG

Risk Identification and Assessment

¢ ERRERIRAER
Risk Control and Mitigation

BERERRS
Significant Risk Reporting

BEA94E5|

EIEEBFT

Operational
Departments

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems during the year under review, based on the advice
received from a firm of Certified Public Accountants and the Audit Committee.
The review covered the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system including financial, operational and compliance controls
for the financial year.

The Board discussed with the Audit Committee on major findings and control
issues. The Board considered that the Group has implemented appropriate
procedures safeguarding the Group’s assets and ensure its accounting records
are properly maintained and in compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.
In addition, the Board also considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Internal Audit

Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should have an
internal audit function.

The Group does not have an internal audit department for performing internal
audit. During the year, the Board reviewed the situation of the Group and
considered that setting up an internal audit department within the Group is
not cost-effective given the relative small size of the Group. An internal audit
function generally carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. Despite the absence of such a department within the Group,
the internal audit function is performed by the Board with the advice from a firm
of certified public accountants and the Audit Committee. Please refer to the
paragraphs above on the Board’s review of the risk management and internal
control systems.

Having reviewed the risk management and internal control systems during the
year, the Board considers they are effective and adequate for the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group believes in fairness and honesty in business dealing and does not
tolerate corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent activities
in connection with any of its business operations. The Group strictly adheres
to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-money Laundering and
Counter-terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to the code of business
ethics as stipulated in the employment contracts. Cases of conflict of interest
Employees who engage in
business operations and represent the Company’s professional image are

must be reported to the Group’s management.

strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest or
benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required to be examined and
approved by different levels of management.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

The Group has adopted a whistleblowing policy to encourage and enable
employees to raise serious concerns within the Group. The policy allows
employees to raise genuine concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, compliance, and other malpractice, at the earliest opportunity and in
an appropriate way, without fear of reprisal.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to similar dealing restrictions.
The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of himself or
others. Any inside information and any information which may potentially
constitute inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated
to the Board and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside
information and other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in due course.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has arranged
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensure that such financial
statements reflect a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the
reporting period.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, BDO was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, BDO
also provided the non-audit services including interim review services to the
Company.

The remuneration paid/payable to BDO, the auditors, is set out below:

BT
HK$
EIZRT Audit services 700,000
IEE IR Non-audit services
—ERPHEFER — carrying out review on interim financial information 100,000
NEWE COMPANY SECRETARY

B RERTRBZAAWE KB/ ETREES
THRAABZABEH ARERESB F2RTE
E-REAMERSREEAERMNI—He

KBE_E__F+__A=+—HLEFE BIKXE
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RRERREED REN > FRBRMEEXEHEE
(BEEEBANES) NREASRERBIIRZR
PRGEMEMRBIEEESIN  RAEARBDRIAE LEE
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R 2+ D2 —2Z2REFRBE MBABEANH
REEZHPHEMELART - MNFEREERZBHR
EF2IBREFTERAERZAG  AIREFRER
ZERAXNETEARAG MAABRARAFREEM
FEFENIMERSHEREBRNMAEGERX

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong is the company secretary of the Company. He is an
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. Please refer to the section headed “PROFILE OF DIRECTORS,
COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” for his biographic
details.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong undertook not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the GEM Listing
Rules, resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other
than purely administrative and procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll
results are posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings. Notice of the general meetings, annual/
interim/quarterly reports and circulars have been sent to Shareholders in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be called on the
requisition of any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS, RIGHTS (continued)

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”)
whereby communications are mainly conducted through general meetings,
including annual general meetings, the Company’s financial reports (annual,
interim and quarterly reports), and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent that such information is publicly available. Any such
questions shall be first directed to the company secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square,
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The company secretary shall
forward enquiries and concerns received to the Board and/or its committee to,
where appropriate, answer the same.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

The number of shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a
general meeting shall be any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings on the date of the request. The proposal shall be directed to
the Company secretary at the Companys’ principal place of business in Hong
Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its Shareholders and investing public.
The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the Shareholders.

In addition, the annual general meeting of the Company is an important
channel for regular face-to-face communications between the Board and the
Shareholders. It provides a platform where Shareholders may communicate
their views on various matters affecting the Company and the Board may
solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders. Directors
are encouraged to attend the annual general meetings. Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
(chairman of the Board and executive Director), Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief
Executive Officer and executive Director), Mr. Han Chun-Wei (chief financial
officer and executive Director), Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (executive Director) and Mr.
Yeung Wai Hung Peter (independent non-executive Director, chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, member of the Audit Committee and member of the
Nomination Committee) attended the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 20 May 2022. BDO Limited, the external auditor, also attended the said
annual general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (continued)

Based on above, the Company considers the above Policy by way of regular
updates on the business and financial information of the Group through
the publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports and face-to-face
communications at annual general meetings are effective and adequate.

Constitutional Documents
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Shareholders approved the

adoption of the amended and restated articles of association of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 May 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT
Shareholding

Based on the information available to the Board, the shareholding of the
Company as at 31 December 2022 was as follows:—

HRE

FR¥FR& 17 8 B BE49E 2 tb

Approximate

Number of Percentage of

Shares Held Shareholding

BB EAMZER Parties associated with Hon Hai 11,853,524 50.58%

H Others 11,580,259 49.42%

st Total 23,433,783 100.00%
ABRERE Public Float

RIBARBDARAIBZENKBESAAN RARS
B AR B EFNERGEM EM AR RIS 11.230%F
MEZ25% N RFFRE °

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company
maintained its public float of not less than 25% as required under Rule 11.23 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (continuea)

Important Shareholders’ Dates for 2023

HEHA =
Date Event
BREEFAZHPRMALVRAEER FIZEEHREBFATES

Not less than 21 clear days of
date of annual general meeting

KRERBFASHHAMNMEEXAE

KRERBFAEHH (BEFEEEMA)

3 business days before the date of
annual general meeting to the
date of annual general meeting
(both dates inclusive)

NIE_=F,A=Z+HZ;ZH
On or before 30 June 2023

RIEZ=FAA+HBHZH
On or before 15 May 2023

RIZ2Z=FN\B+HBHZAH
On or before 15 August 2023

RIE_=F+—HB+HHHZH
On or before 15 November 2023

Issue of notice convening the annual general meeting

KRRBFEASEEMHERNBRELFERH

Book closure days for annual general meeting

REFBEFERE

Annual general meeting

EMBE_ T _—F=-RA=T+—HLE=BARZFEXxE

Release of quarterly results for three months ending 31 March 2023

BHMBE_E_=—FNA=1THINEBZFHFEE

Release of interim results for six months ending 30 June 2023

EMBE T _=—FNA=THLENERAZETEXxE

Release of quarterly results for nine months ending 30 September 2023
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PREAMBLE

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report prepared
by CircuTech International Holdings Limited pursuant to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The report describes the Company’s
policies in 2022 that were designed to fulfil the Company’s obligations with
respect to sustainable development and social responsibilities areas, as
required by the ESG Guide. The information in this ESG Report is derived from
the Group’s official documents and statistical data, as well as the integration
and summary of monitoring, management and operational information provided
by major subsidiaries of the Group.

The reporting period of this ESG report is from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022 (the “Reporting Period”). This report highlights significant environmental
and social impacts of our business activities in the sales and distribution of IT
products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT products.

Unless otherwise specified, the key performance index calculation of the
environmental aspect covers the Group’s operations in Hong Kong. Quantitative
disclosures in relation to our offices in Taiwan, the Netherlands, the United
States of America (the “USA”) and Australia are excluded from this report due
to either relatively small environmental footprint or under establishment. While
this report only covers significant partial operations of the Group, and the
Group aims to upgrade its internal data collection procedures and gradually
expand the scope of the disclosure in future reports when appropriate.

The Board endorses the Group’s commitments to ESG responsibility, and
assumes full responsibility for ESG strategies and reporting. The Board reviews
the ESG performance of the Group annually, identifies, evaluates and manages
important matters related environmental protection, social responsibility and
governance, and oversees and approves annual ESG report.

In charge of assessing and determining the ESG risk exposure, the
management also ensures the Group establishes appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems and reports to the Board
the risks and opportunities related to ESG, and provides confirmation on the
effectiveness of the ESG system.
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R &R
Stakeholder Groups

RERME
Specific Stakeholder

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Stakeholders’ expectation, view and feedback towards the Group is of ultimate
importance to its future development. The Group has therefore committed itself
to in-depth communication with both internal and external stakeholders and
presents our updated operational condition to them proactively through various
channels. We integrate their opinions with our daily operational decisions,
strive to balance the interests of the parties and satisfy the expectations
and demands of stakeholders. The table below shows a list of the Group’s
stakeholders.

BBEE
Communication Channel

CEE
Investors

EE

Employees

LGS
Customers

o IRE
e Shareholders
- BEREE

e Potential investors

. BREEE
e Senior management
e BT

o Staff

« BFET

e Electronics Craftsmen

o BiEEES

e Potential recruits

BX
e Buyers
s RERAR
e Ultimate users

il

A

o NEIHEUL

e Corporate website

s FERFHAMBRE

e Annual and interim financial report

s TERERRNE

e Quarterly reports and announcements
o REBAFAKE

e Annual general meetings

o WE LFTHER

e Disclosure of listed information

s HIFEB

e Direct communication

o BUFER/NERE K

¢ Independent focus groups and interviews
s PEMEEMEED

e CSR activities

o EHARIRTE

e Regular performance assessment

o EIlKHNE

e Training and seminars

o P

e Customers assessment

s XRELR

e Designated customer hotline
o HIRUERS

e Social media
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ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS (continuea)

&R REFME BIERE
Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholder Communication Channel
HER, EEH o MRHHRERS o (HEM T
Suppliers/Contractors e Material suppliers e Suppliers assessment

o Byt e BETD

e Manufacturers

e Quality review

& o DRI EM &AM o BEBE
Community e National and local community organisations e Charitable donations
o ERES
e \/olunteering activities
BURF o D[t BURF e EAEEX
Government e National and local governments e Written correspondence

o BEIE

e Regulators
BB

REFHTRESOEZRE - BERBE RMEER
EEERKEERNAERZIERE HERE
AEE e BREZEERNZERNRRE HBERER
> RN EFERRIE SRR ZEZZ SN
BRDGEEZEEBRH—E

HAERHFERRNEEY

Importance to the Sustainable Development at the Group
w

o EEMRESKR—RIEE
e Statutory reports and general disclosures

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to gain a better understanding of the expectations, perceptions and
concerns of our stakeholders, we have engaged our management team and
employees in identifying the Group’s material ESG issues. With the identified
material ESG aspects, we strive to ensure proper measures on significant
issues are addressed adequately throughout our business activities.

BB

Materiality Assessment

® o
67101113 1516171819 20

[ ] [ J
1422 123458912

®
21

2 3 4 5 6
HEFMENEEN

Importance to Stakeholders
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Protecting our planet

1 BERR RS BEE
1 Air and noise emissions control
2 BRBIE GER - KREEY)
2 Resource management (energy, water and waste)
3 IHEEBIE
3 Project management
4 THIRBRE
4  Site environment impact
5 HREBRAE
5 Green office
6 SIERZIL
6 Climate change
el
Dedicated workforce
7 BERREZE
7 Occupational health and safety
8 fBIFESL
8 Employment practices
9 EERINEE

9 Employee training and development
10 Lot TEKE

10 Diversity and equal opportunity

11 REARE (B KsaflsT)

11 Protecting human rights (child and forced labour)

12
12
13
13
14
14
15
15
16
16
17
17
18
18
19
19

20
20

21
21
22
22
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B EHENEERE
Responsible value chain

TEEBKRER
Corporate governance and compliance
R&5
Anti-corruption
IRE R BB TA R
Confidentiality and data privacy
EmERBEREIRE
Product and service quality management

BERZE - 2HEHRREE

Customer safety, engagement and satisfaction
EREBRFNRRERZE

Customers’ and users’ health and safety
HEBRDEE2H

Supplier and subcontractor engagement
HEFESEENIRERTEETE

Supplier and subcontractors’ environmental and social
responsibility

BRI TFHERFEE G

Transparent and fair procurement practices

TEAR
Corporate citizen

HERERESH

Community investment and engagement
MIHEMTENEE

Site impact on local communities
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ENVIRONMENT

Emissions

The Group is engaged in the businesses of sales and distribution of IT
products and repairs, maintenance and service support for electronic products.
The operations of the Group by itself do not have a significant impact on
the environment as the process (manufacturing of IT products) that do
generate hazardous waste is outsourced to an authorised dealer to handle
with. However, the Group takes steps to closely monitor and manage the
environmental effect of all operations.

The Group aims to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions and
operate in less harmful ways to the environment. The Group constantly
incorporates green principles into each project, for example, the environmental
harmfulness and the capacity of energy-saving of materials and equipment
used are considered during the selection of suppliers. Furthermore, at the
Group’s offices, the indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning
system are preset to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions. The
major type of energy consumption of the Group is electricity, which produced
indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions resulting from the generation of
purchased electricity.

R ERAEHK Indirect GHG emissions
B
(Z|EEiREE —E-- B
Unit (COze) 2022 2021

AERRE kR (EiES2) Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)

BIFEA Electricity consumed T 16,222.36 17,772.30
kg

BHERTZE Electricity consumed intensity TR/ |BE 506.95 433.47
kg/employees

H iRz HEg (85853) Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)

ZEENIEEE ZEER Paper waste disposed at landfills T 1,097.06 712.49
kg

ZEENHEEGZEREE Paper waste disposed at landfills intensity T3z, 88 34.28 17.38

kg/employees
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources

Due to the Group’s business nature, the energy, power and water utilisation
of the Group’s offices do not rely heavily on energy consumption nor water
resources. Since our water consumption in the Hong Kong office is minimal
and managed by the building management, therefore we did not deal with
any issues in sourcing water during the Reporting Period. The Group is
committed to building an environmentally friendly working atmosphere that
conserves natural resources. The Group strives to minimise environmental
impact by saving electricity, encouraging recycling of office supplies and using
environmentally friendly equipment and tools in its operations.

The air-conditioning system is maintained at 25 degrees Celsius and also
set with a timer so that they will be automatically switched off during non-
office hours. For office consumables consumption management, the Group
encourages its employees to handle documents electronically. When the use of
paper is necessary, double-sided printing is suggested except the printing for
formal and confidential documents. In addition, video-conference systems have
been installed in our offices to reduce business travel emissions and increase
communication efficiency.

HRFEH Resources consumption
B (i =2 Sl
Unit 2022 2021

EEA Electricity usage FEBF 41,596.80 45,435.81
kWh

BHEARE Electricity usage intensity FTERE/EE 1,299.88 1,108.19
kWh/employee

HoRFEA Paper usage Fe 228.56 240.07
kg

MRERRE Paper usage intensity FTr/EE 7.14 5.86
kg/employee

54 MEBEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



RIE-HERELRERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE @

HRER (&)

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

BRFER (B Resources consumption (continued)

EE BiZ

Issue Target

BERBEHER MBI —FHBEEAEE RITZTAFARAZEREHN @HE2KR3) ZE REs4EEZSR

BB E&5t) B 10%

GHG Emissions By 2026,

reduce GHG emissions (Scope 2 & 3) intensity (by CO2e per employee) by 10%

compared to a financial year of 2021 baseline.

Z2=37)]
Waste
2021 baseline.

RERBANERERBRNRER  *EERBERARE
EEARLCER - MEERKREBERBENT E KM
NEBASRETEMEEURTEE

RSB ~EERBEZERER L EEKME
BEEMIEBTEEHE RRBRE > AR LS
7 ENBRRERRF -

RIERRXAER

AREBEAXREREBERLE BRERVHEBRERRAE
BENEE HRIRAERRAETMEEMEESENEG
B AEBEEBIEBUT RV ER - MEELRAKRE
IREEIBGR > MU EN B

BDER BB B TRIEE 7 X ERRITEN X ok &
ETENUA BT R A

MEHR TR RTEEESENE REEERER
NWeF SBELEHEREMQIFERITHN -ERB
WS TERIEFEY AR

IR | UREE ST N R B EN R 6 FIB 1Y Bk AR B
8 WIEERIF o M BB RAF7T 6
KHAN-NAKESE (B4 E0 TS B 48) > 1 B R 2 3R
H%O

NZZE - -—FHHREERSERE

By 2026, reduce energy used mtensﬁy (by per employee) by 10%, compared to a financial year of

“RFRIRERERTE (SR ESS) BM10%°

To achieve our energy-use efficiency target, the Group has adopted the
Reduce, Replace and Reuse approach, in line with national initiatives. Our
managerial staff will perform periodic reviews to monitor the progress.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed a minimal amount of
packaging materials for our trading products, however, the corresponding
quantitative data is unable to be retrieved. We will improve our data collection
procedure on this area in coming years.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group values environmentally friendly operations and minimises the impact
on the environment and natural resources. As paper usage in the office would
impose burden on forestry resources, the Group has actively promoted the
“Reduce, Reuse and Recycle” policy to promote paper conservation as follows:

Reduce: encourages staff to read electronic files instead of printing out
documents or printing on both sides to create a paperless office.

Reuse: installs boxes next to printers and photocopying machines to collect
used single-sided papers, encourages employees to use these papers for draft
print out. Reuses paper boxes for storage purposes.

Recycle: used ink and toner cartridges of printers and photocopying machines
are collected for recycling. Other than saving paper measures, we also use
KHAN-NA paper, a unique model of sustainable fibre, which mitigates global
warming.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

EREREE AEBLEEREETESREY 77 Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not directly generate
TRNEBEAREELEEANEEREENEEZY -HZE_"  industrial pollutants and is not aware of any significant generation of hazardous
T _F+_A=+—HIEFEE > AEBWAFNEBE and non-hazardous waste. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the

AERFTNEERER - RER

BEHEER - Mk Bt H#l  Group is not aware of any material non-compliance issues in respect of any

o - BEEREEEEYELENTMABRIRMADEEL  applicable laws and regulations on environmental protection relating to air, GHG

HHNER- emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

RIRE1E Climate Change

RS BMH AR

Focus Area Our Approach

B EXEHE x4 B REERMER  BER B RIRE -

Governance Board oversight: The Board meets quarterly to oversee climate-related strategies, policies,
actions and disclosure.
EEENAG BEEMBTII RIESCRETERE & A ERBUER » 1758 8 5 R IZECAER & b o
Management’s role: The management supports climate action planning and internal policy
setting, as well as coordinating responses to climate-related risks.

R BEKRIEE - BEESRET—REH InAMEBEENEAETREZCRE BEERKE

Strategy BEm LUREILE R - M S A B R IESEETE > UFEE R -

Policies and guidelines: The management meets monthly and discusses any potential climate
change risk to our business. Management will then brainstorm ideas to mitigate these risks.
The corresponding actions will be implemented and reviewed from time to time to assess their
effectiveness.

BRER XMTGHTEREZ XS ERARBERSESS WRRBRKK) NEE REEMTIERE
R X ARG BN B IR R EE FEFE B ©

Physical risks: We assess our IT products trading business for impacts related to weather-related
events such as storms and floods. The Group pays attention to the climate change of relevant
countries of the business and assists with implementing fast-response measures.

EBRERE: AmZRBERNEENNITERPETTGH - RHEETERS  RMERETHRN
NIRRITERMSZEM - BEEERECHEREREEMNIREREGERAEIBIEEN

Transition risks: Impacts related to market risk are assessed in our IT products. We keep
abreast of the latest market information for environmental-friendly IT products when we select the
IT products. Our management monitors the environmental performance of suppliers by regularly
reviewing their published environmental report.

56 MEBEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



RIE-HERELRERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE @

RIREME (&

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

R SRR BMHNAR
Focus Area Our Approach
R EE EMEEmES tEANRBAAREENRBEEREREARFOHEETHNRRE - HERER

Risk Management

EMTER - AEERRERRBEERGLCARMNEERERENR I B HBEREN AR ER -

Climate-related risks are incorporated into the Group’s risk management framework and ESG
materiality assessment by different stakeholders. The Group will monitor and follow up on both
transition and physical climate-related risks and update policies to respond to relevant risks.

EREER

Metrics and Targets

ZHMPINBE R REMEAF EEMT R E THrai# -

Departmental contributions towards reduction targets are linked to yearly performance evaluations

and employee remuneration.

te
21

EERASRAKREBENEENGZEEMNZL
B AL ERE AR RE ] - AERIRMEE
ErE A KT 2 Em R 8 MUIRE R &
HREEFNET - AEETEBEEFINBRE
EREXENEHRBEAKE -BFR > SOESEMHER
RAFHIFRERFEEESEZS OER  AEME
EZREEAMBEA TR KNEIIERANFR
FHEER KMATERRYERGENENEXE
B o

rEESEERETHEEME R A EES B
KRR -BEREA TR RA - FTEHE 2
ToAb ~ R AR MU EL A5 38 Fe 1@ 71 O AR B M 18 VR 2
ER BEBIRREBEETE(EBEL) ; B
E(EBELEL)  BMC2009F AFITIEE) ; RBA
(BE}EEXR)  WERATHEHREEFERME &
IFMERRE HBHME TERENSHEELR
BRE ROREE TR EE-

BE_Z__F+_RA=1+—HLFE -AEHIF
MEEFERBRERRSHEG ZEE ERKRE
RMETERELEEATEZBR-

SOCIAL

Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets and core
competitive advantage, they also provide the driving force for the continuous
innovation of the Group. The Group rewards and recognises performing staff
by providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound
performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives. The Group also
promotes career development and progression by appropriate training and
provides opportunities for career advancement. Also, in order to provide a good
and fair working environment and safeguard the well-being of the employees,
the Group seriously considers all valuable opinions from employees for
enhancing workplace productivity and harmony which can help the Group to
build a united and harmonious professional team.

The Group places high regard to the compliance of relevant employment
laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in the jurisdictions in which it
operates, including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57), Laws of Hong Kong; the Labour Standards Act of Taiwan; the Fair Work
Act 2009 of Australia; and the Labour Standards Act of Japan, and the
relevant administrative rules and measures are strictly enforced. The Employee
Handbook clearly states the guidelines relating to employment, labour relations,
employees’ remuneration and welfare to protect the rights of employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is not aware of any non-

compliance with the laws, regulations and policies relating to employment and
labour practices that have a significant impact on the Group.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 28 full-time
employees in total. The composition of staff are as follows:

and 4 part-time

BIT#% Total workforce
2022 2021
A& A&
No. of People No. of People
gk FilE b By Gender
B4 Male 24 30
7% Female 8 11
BER AR S D By Age Group
185% 2305% 18-30 years old 1 2
3158 £405% 31-40 years old 10 12
4155 E5058% 41-50 years old 12 5
5158 £605% 51-60 years old 4 iy
605 A £ Over 60 years old 5 7
it 12 & 15 & 43 By Geographical Region
58 Hong Kong 22 25
=0 Taiwan 1 1
1o B The Netherlands - 1
EH The USA - 1
AN 3R Singapore - 2
BN Australia 8 10
HZs Japan 1 1
BESHENE S By Employee Category
SREEBAE Senior management 9 9
ZEET General 23 32
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HEg @ SOCIAL (continueq)
& (& Employment (continued)
ESTEE Employee turnover rate

—_E-_ =S4

2022 2021

¥R & 5 By Gender
B Male 8% 3%
ZE Female 13% 0%
¥ERAER B 2 By Age Group
185% 2305% 18-30 years old 0% 50%
315 E405% 31-40 years old 10% 0%
4158 £505% 41-50 years old 8% 0%
5158 =605% 51-60 years old 0% 0%
60mT A £ Over 60 years old 0% 0%
it 12 & 1 8 By Geographical Region
58 Hong Kong 12% 3%
BN Overseas 0% 0%
BERAZS Health and Safety

REBEBEMNBRBPIEMERN S TEPIBEES|
EREENBEREREAZEER RANEETEE
SFUNE B LB FEE09E M T 2 R ER R 552828
BEMERG 8B (HEZ2HEE) FEM (2011
FIFRERZE2ZE)EBRERRIER

o RETERASENRERES RS HETIES
FINZ2E# RBFE=F UEES T HE T FRAI
T NEESBTIRIGEBAIFHR -BEZZE__F
TZRA=FT—HLEEE AEBRT AT EMERE
FREEZEEZRENEAMBFAERELEEARE

|
A -

The Group follows the guidelines from the labour departments of regional
subsidiaries to set up the occupational health and safety measures of the
Group. Our operations fully comply with applicable laws and regulations such
as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282), Laws of Hong Kong; the Occupational
Safety and Health Act of Taiwan; and the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 of
Australia.

In addition, workshops and guidance are provided to staff to improve their
awareness of workplace safety. There were no work-related fatalities and
reported lost days due to work-related injuries during the past three years.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant health and safety laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Development and Training

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development so
that the employees are better equipped and work efficiently which is favourable
to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes are classified
into two types based on target and purpose: internal training and external
training. For example, external training programmes related to Dangerous
Goods Regulations are attended by our employees who need to deal with those
IT products that should be handled with care. Whereas for internal training,
the Company organises team building activities and workshops regularly in the
Hong Kong office in order to enhance team spirit. The Group supports staff
training programmes by offering employees to attend continuing professional
development and training courses during working days and training
sponsorship.

ZFINESFHL : Percentage of employees trained:
2022 2021
gk FilE b By Gender
B Male 73% 73%
peg s Female 27% 27%
BESBAE 2 By Employment Level
SREEBAE Senior management 36% 22%
ZEET General 64% 78%
BT FHIE 2 - Average training hours completed:
—E--% —m-—
2022 2021
53 =3
No. of Hours No. of Hours
¥4 B &l 5 By Gender
B Male 12.21 12.83
2Z % Female 20.00 18.55
BESRSKE S By Employment Level
SHREEBAE Senior management 14.22 7.33
EBET General 14.13 16.34
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SOCIAL (continued)

Development and Training (continued)
Average training hours completed: (continued)

In daily operations, the Group also provides induction training for new
employees. Experienced employees will act as mentors to guide the
newcomers on jobs. Such arrangements may enhance the effectiveness of
communication and improve their technical skills and managerial capability of
employees at all levels. The Group also updates the latest information of the
industry and laws and regulations which are essential to the Group’s operation
and their job responsibilities from time to time.

Labour Standards

The Group highly respects human rights and freedom. We strictly prohibit
the use of child and forced labour in our workplace by adhering to the
Employment of Children Regulations and Employment of Young Persons
(Industry) Regulations under the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57), Laws
of Hong Kong; Labour Standards Act of Taiwan; the Employment Law of the
Netherlands; the Fair Labour Standards Act of the United States; the Fair
Work Act 2009 of Australia; the Employment Act of Singapore; and the Labour
Standards Act of Japan. The Group enters into employment contracts with
each of its employees in accordance with relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong.

Comprehensive recruitment procedures are required to be performed to check
and verify the age of a job applicant before the Group hires him/her. The
procedures require a job applicant to present their valid proof of identity to
ensure that they have reached the legal working age. Important details such
as job duties, locations and working hours of the staff are also set out clearly
in the employment contract to protect their rights and interests and forced
labour is strictly prohibited. Applicant who is suspected to have false academic
qualifications and working experience will not be employed. The Group
provides its staff with a safe, healthy, comfortable working environment with
labour protection, reasonable remuneration and various welfare.

Annual Report 2022 61



RIB-HERELRERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HE e
HEREE

REBEREHBHNBHLAGR HEEBTETR
BER AEBETEHEBENTE ﬁi\ﬂg?‘rﬁéiﬁ% %
HEFNEE S THRRIESFETRE I
B s HEREEENEECNEENBEHE &
EETEHEINAZIZAEHEFNETR ER
MRERARERFAEZER) REBREES
FHERL BERBOIEERBHNRE -cEAEQ
HEEBNEXEE RENE Rt EE - HEFR
HERBRKEERRS  BREFHMARERATE
B BEEMFREFEE Uk FRAHAEBRE
RERNREEE-

AEBGFREREHEHNER QFEARIIER
TEEAMERBEERBBES BN RER NIRRT
@%@Eﬂf#)@ﬁ%ﬁF‘TﬂEﬁWﬁAT’F FEEEEHHMFE
B E— S BEEH NS ERIG AEBE151RHAE
AR R Eﬁ% HEEEZMIBEIE DM !

SOCIAL (continued)

Supply Chain Management

The Group values the partnership with suppliers and works together to promote
sustainable development of the industry. The Group has been continuously
optimising and improving the supplier management system, regulating the
access, supervision, evaluation and departure of suppliers, and constantly
increasing specialisation and transparency of supply chain management.
The evaluation of a supplier mainly includes background, qualification (for
example, holding necessary licenses to provide such services), quality control
of service, financial status, past performance in similar service, fulfilment of the
contract, professionalism of project team, operation in good integrity and social
responsibility. The supplier selection process is reviewed by the management,
to ensure fair and objective procedures for all suppliers. This is to maintain high
reputation and levels of customer satisfaction regarding the Group’s services
and products.

The Group values communication with suppliers, including continuous
communication with suppliers in routine work and establishing strategic
cooperation with suppliers through technical support and unique competitive
advantage that can achieve a win-win situation and strengthen the cooperation
with each other. The Group maintained close ties with a total of 151 suppliers.
The suppliers categorised by geographical region were as follows:

H%E
IR & 5 Geographical Region Number
5E Hong Kong 35
FREE N R HEME The People’s Republic of China 15
R Asia 48
BN Australia 16
B Europe 19
EHRERE United States of America 18

BEMS RMRIATHEBFLE REMEED
ZEHEBRBERARB -AEFRBEUTERR
BEMEn  AREERNERERESHR U RE kB
FrEREERERKAMEEN aTRNETE KM
EoBREEENRERTERARBEEREMALRE
@E’]ﬂﬁﬁmﬂi cAEBRERKLIRERTREE
B » 3 1 R I B AR ) LB PO 8 4 T o

DIH \[]]ﬂ

Specifically, we maintain approved lists of suppliers, and procurement of
goods or services is only made from these suppliers. The Group’s suppliers
are selected based on the following factors: environmental compliance of
products supplied; quality of materials; and any background issues concerning
potential conflict of interest in supplying goods to the Group. Environmental
and social risks along the supplier chain are incorporated into the Group’s risk
management framework by management. The Group will monitor and follow
up on both environmental and social risks and set up appropriate measures to
mitigate relevant risks.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Product Responsibility

The Group aims to achieve the highest possible standard with all the services
provided. The Group has established relevant policies which cover service
quality guarantee, safety, fair advertising and after-sales services in order to
ensure that relevant measures comply with the laws and regulations.

The Group pays close attention to the quality and safety of its products
and services. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
complaints or requests to terminate the relationship due to poor quality and
safety. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately assess the
complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the matter to identify
the source of the issue. The Group has a close connection with customers.
If customers are not satisfied with the quality and safety of the services,
the Group will arrange sufficient channels and staff to support customers’
communication and provide solutions as soon as possible.

The routine work of the Group always involves the intellectual property rights
of customers, suppliers and the Group, therefore protection of intellectual
property rights is extremely important. Protective clauses are added to the
contracts entered into with customers and suppliers to safeguard intellectual
property rights. The Group also reviews every operational contract to ensure
that the contract safeguards the intellectual property rights of the parties. For
the purpose of the Group’s intellectual property policy to be referred to written,
creative or media work, all source materials used in presentation or written
documents must be acknowledged, and the Group shall refrain from using any
ideas, products and goods without proper authorisation.

To ensure the information and data of our clients are always under secure
protection, the Group requests technical specialists to sign confidentiality
agreements. All employees are required to keep any such client data that may
be disclosed to them or learned by them confidential. We are also committed
to protecting the privacy of our employees, subcontractors and clients in
accordance with our code of practice stated in our Employee Handbook and
relevant regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter
486), Laws of Hong Kong.

With respect to fair advertising, the Group requires the employees of the
sales department to provide customers with accurate and true information on
the Group’s products and services. Hotline and e-mail are also available for
customers’ enquiries on service details in order to provide better before and
after-sales services.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy
matters related to products and services provided.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Anti-corruption

We believe in fairness and honesty in business dealing and we do not tolerate
corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent activities in
connection with any of our business operations. The Group strictly adheres
to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201), the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615), Laws of Hong Kong.

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to the code of business
ethics as stipulated in the employment contracts and Employee Handbook.
Cases of conflict of interest must be reported to the Group’s management.
Employees who engage in business operations and represent the Company’s
professional image are strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for
personal interest or benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required
to be examined and approved by different levels of management.

To enhance employees’ awareness of corruption risks and prevent them
from falling prey to corruption, the Group has subscribed to newsletter of the
Hong Kong Business Ethics Development Centre, which offers a full range
of free anti-corruption and ethics training to companies. During the year,
the Group has invited the management to attend online talks and webinars
regarding integrity training and ethics legacy to strengthen their anti-corruption
knowledge.

Whistleblowing policy is also set out to encourage and enable employees
to raise serious concerns within the Group. The policy allows employees to
raise genuine concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
compliance, and other malpractice, at the earliest opportunity and in an
appropriate way, without fear of reprisal.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Community Investment and Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the communities in which it
operates and maintains close ties with the communities in order to contribute
to local development.

The Group believes that the creation of a beautiful and peaceful community
depends on the cooperation of people, corporations and society as a whole.
By working together with various community partners, the Group believes
that it may bring a tremendous impact on the sustainable development of the
communities in which it operates.

The Group also actively encourages staff to devote their time and skills to
benefit local communities. It gives employees the opportunities to find out more
about the issues of society and reinforce the Group’s corporate values.

During the Reporting Period, the Group put our focus on community investment
and involvement in the elderly services in our society. We have donated
funds to a charity organisation to support for the event of delivering electrical
appliances to nursing home as well as sponsoring a restaurant to serve meals
for the elderly.
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To the Shareholders of
Circutech International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 163, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
Valuation of derivative financial instrument in relation to the associate
Refer to Notes 3.3, 4(b) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

On 19 July 2018, the Group acquired 21% equity interest of 4Square Return
GmbH (“4Square”) and the Group was entitled to a call option to acquire
the remaining equity interest of 4Square in 2023 and a buy-back option that
entitled the other shareholders of 4Square to buy back 21% equity interest in
4Square from the Group if the Group does not exercise the call option within
three months after call option expires (the “Acquisition”).

The total cost of the investment in 4Square was HK$14,508,000. In return, the
Group is entitled to 21% of equity interest in 4Square and a call option and
buy-back option at the date of the acquisition.

The Group recognised the investment in 4Square as an associate amounted
to HK$6,569,000 and the call option and buy-back option at a fair value of
HK$7,939,000 as derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the date of acquisition.

Management performed the assessment of the fair value of the call option
and buy-back option at year end based on an independent valuation report
prepared by an external valuer.

We identified this matter as a key audit matter because of the significance

management judgement used in the fair value of the options at year end
including the revenue growth rate of the associate and the discount rate.

Annual Report 2022 67



B S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

FAREBETEIE @

=1

gﬂ:

BMERABZITEEHITRIGE (&

RPN ESHMARERRES TR

EMIHIEIE

R ZBE AR ZTESM T AETHENER -

~ REEEAMKBEETEERE UT RS
SEE QERE RRGEE BEEZ B
e T

- HMRABARKBMEARDZKENIEHEKRE
O HAHE R R S ME R S BAS (1% 3 B B B 1%
& R ER R

- EMTEIEBIGEMZEER -ENRTE
Mo

— BMNERABGESERT EEERNEERA
HATE K B B A tE 2 A T E R P SR A (S B 75 7 &
HEARKRZBE -

— BMERHEBMEARDXRHZTHRALERTS
AR ET AR IRR -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of derivative financial instrument in relation to the associate
(continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Our response:

Our procedures in relation to valuation of derivative financial instruments for the
associate.

- We read the sale and purchase agreement of the Acquisition to
understand the details of the transaction, including the consideration, the
conditions of completion, the rights and obligations of the Group.

- We checked the terms of the call option and buy-back option in relation
to the investment in the associate to the relevant supporting documents,
including the sale and purchase agreement and shareholder agreement.

- We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuer.

- We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
underlying assumptions adopted by management in determining the fair
value of the call option and buy-back option with the involvement of our
in house valuation expert.

- We evaluated the key assumptions used based on our understanding
of the business of the associate and by comparing the market available
data.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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(continued)

MEEFREENSED HAREWLESIEH AL From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
GV BRRNETRAEE AMEMEAEZETE  matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
Ho R MEZBENRS MM SLEFEIE fRIEAEIA  statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
BAAT A AREESELESTE I EBIKEERMNER  describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
TR EEBPERMREDBEBEEEIBSEHMNE  public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
HERBBEENARMGE  HFREAEERSST  we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
BIBZEIE the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

ERBIUCEREHMEHBAMERAR BDO Limited

P E 25 ET Certified Public Accountants
BEs Pak Tak Lun

HEZEZRTE P06170 Practising Certificate no. P06170
5B 2 =F=A+MH Hong Kong, 14 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+_A=+—HLEE

For the year ended

31 December

2022 2021
bzt FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 9] 368,160 349,870
iH & B A Cost of sales 7 (341,591) (324,322)
EF Gross profit 26,569 25,548
HAiug A Other income 6 3,941 2,765
HE R DA Selling and distribution costs 7 (5,518) (9,171)
THEHA Administrative expenses 7 (14,181) (14,870)
MERERSZH Research and development expenditures 7 (1,265) (1,370)
TEEMITAEZAFE Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative financial
(B518) instrument (1,010) 494
fEREEEARZ B Share of net profit of an associate accounted for
— BB E A B AR using the equity method 12 292 673
B 75 B A Finance costs 10 (108) (63)
BRETS 12 AT i@ A Profit before income tax 8,720 4,006
FriSiR Income tax expenses 13 (3,299) (1,774)
EEEEF Profit for the year 5,421 2,232
AEEFEHMEEUWE ! Other comprehensive income for the year:
BREBEEF 7EZEm EH Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
MEBNERELECERERE Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations (3,015) (1,471)
B EEN D EEEmzEE Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
FZREMEEmBRERATE Change in the fair value of equity investment at
FEZEGREZ AT EEES fair value through other comprehensive income 146 (6)
AEEHMPE Other comprehensive income for the year (2,869) (1,477)
TEEZEWTELE Total comprehensive income for the year 2,552 755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+_HA=+—HLEE

For the year ended

31 December

2022 2021
g3 FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HTWATEORFERF : Profit for the year attributable to:
S VNEIEZZ= DN — Owners of the Company 5,421 2,232
HTRIATEEAEE Total comprehensive income for the year
2R AR EE ¢ attributable to:
—KNREEEA - Owners of the Company 2,552 755
KABHEE ANEBHERER] Earnings per share attributable to owners of the
(BRRAEW Company (HK cents per share)
—BEARREE - Basic and diluted 14 23.13 9.52
AR & 2 mE U S PR FE SRR MY 5E — R E o The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

W+ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
2022 2021
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BE Assets
ERBNEE Non-current assets
L ERN V=Yg d ] Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 74 1,268
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(b) 3,264 690
R—EBE T 2 #Em Interest in an associate 12 6,053 7,537
TEEMI A Derivative financial instrument 17 8,120 9,972
ZRAEMEEWRGZATE Financial asset at fair value through other
FIMEZ EREE comprehensive income 18 1,597 1,451
19,108 20,918
MENEE Current assets
=78 Inventories 20 1,563 55,525
IR ST B 0 e L 1411 SRR Trade and other receivables 19 14,592 17,461
ZRRBIERITFER Restricted bank deposits 32 - 31,194
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 138,122 98,850
______________________ 154,277 203,030
HmEE Total assets 173,385 223,948
&= Equity
[N Share capital 22 4,687 4,687
Hih A Other reserves 23 193,669 196,538
HEtE1E Accumulated losses 24 (49,798) (55,219)
NATHEE NELZERKHEE Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company 148,558 146,006
JEER R Non-controlling interests 11,486 =
R Total equity 160,044 146,006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

®W+=ZHA=+—H
As at 31 December
2022 2021
Jiog=3 FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
af& Liabilities
Bk A=K Current liabilities
FEAT BR U R EL At FE (S =% Trade and other payables 26 5,751 73,003
HEEE Lease liabilities 27 1,995 545
SHNEE Contract liabilities 3,479 1,426
eS8 Tax payables 738 2,790
11,963 77,764
BWEERTHEE Total assets less current liabilities 161,422 146,184
ERENEE Non-current liabilities
HEEE Lease liabilities 27 1,378 178
MmeEE Total liabilities 13,341 77,942
EmkaEEEE Total equity and liabilities 173,385 223,948

3t ter 5 B 5 R T 2 L B I B S — G R

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FBI3E1SHZGREMBRREETGN 2= The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 163 were approved and
A+ UHZEREET S TH N ESENKXESE  authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2023 and were

BEEo signed on its behalf.
RIS E wARLE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
EE EE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BE_Z__F+-A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

BAAFEE AES
Attributable to owners of the Company
B Hitkte RHEE e FERED R
Non-
Other Accumulated controlling
Share capital reserves losses Total interest Total
(Hiz#22) (Hi3#23) (Hiz#24)
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
RZE-—F—B—H At 1 January 2021 4,687 198,015 (57,451) 145,251 - 145,251
AEE R Profit for the year - 2,232 2,232 - 2,232
Htr2mbis Other comprehensive income
BERIEBEL BRER Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations - (1,471) - (1,471) - (1,471)
BREMEZARREATE Change in the fair value of equity
FlEZERRBEZ AT EES investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income - 6) - 6) - 6)
EEKELEE Total comprehensive income - (1,477) 2,232 755 - 755
RIBZ-F+-A=1+—-8AkK At 31 December 2021 and
“E-"F-—HF—H 1 January 2022 4,687 196,538 (55,219) 146,006 - 146,006
KEERT Profit for the year - - 5,421 5,421 - 5,421
Ht2mbiam Other comprehensive income
HEBNEBEEERER Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations = (3,015) = (3,015) = (3,015)
FREMZANERATE Change in the fair value of equity
Az BRREZ A TEED investment at fair valug through
other comprehensive income - 146 - 146 - 146
_%iﬁ_llﬂl_ﬁiﬁk’_ﬁ_ﬁ _________ Total comprehensive income - (2,869) 5,421 2,552 - 2,552
M —EREAR Incorporation of a subsidiary - = = = 11,486 11,486
RZFZZF+-B=+—H At 31 December 2022 4,687 193,669 (49,798) 148,558 11,486 160,044

Littr et m BB R A S PR I o — R -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+_HA=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

2022 2021
k=3 FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REXBZHERE Cash flows from operating activities
gL /(FifA) 2%  Cash generated from/(used in) operations 30 5,029 (3,592)
BUHE Interest received 652 39
B SR Income taxes paid (5,178) (480)
KEEEESY S FrR) 2 Net cash generated from/(used in)
. operating activities 503 (4,033)
REXBZHRERE Cash flows from investing activities
MES BB RBHELR Payments for property, plant and equipment (28) (48)
HEME -BERKEZ Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
Fri8= 18 equipment 19 55
ZREIRITEIURLD Decrease in restricted bank deposit 31,194 -
BEW—REBEATZKE Dividend received from an associate 824 =
iﬁ_%%ﬁ?;é_%_z_fﬁ_ﬁi%?ﬁ_ ______ Net cash generated from investing activities 32,009 7
MEXBZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEREE8EZAEHBD Repayment of principal portion of
the lease liabilities 31 (1,335) (889)
EEHEaBGZMEZD Repayment of interest portion of
the lease liabilities 31 (108) (63)
JEERERTE Capital injection from non-controlling interest 11,486 g
MEXEREE FrA) 2 Net cash generated from/(used in) financing
 ReFE 0 activities 10,043 (952)
HeRIBEEEYEm Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
CRZL) $%8 equivalents 42,555 (4,978)
RENZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 98,850 104,695
EXEHHIBSKRIREE[EY) 2 Effects on exchange rates changes on cash and
E cash equivalents (3,283) (867)
REXRZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 138,122 98,850

I_r
&
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The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of IT products, and the provision of repairs and other
service support of IT products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting of CircuTech International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRSs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

()

Statement of compliance (continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
(including derivative instrument and financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income) measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(a)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group from 1 January 2022

The HKICPA has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group:

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The adoption of the above amendments did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods. The Group has not
early applied any new or amended HKFRSs that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current’

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current liabilities with
covenants (“2022 Amendments”)?

HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality
judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies’

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction’

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Liability in a Sales and
Leaseback?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, in particular the
determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In
2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022
Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity that
classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively. Early
application is permitted.

The director of the Company is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The
General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by
measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the
Premium Allocation Approach.

Amendments in 2020 introduced changes to simplify some
of the requirements; make financial performance easier to
explain and ease transition by providing addition transition
reliefs. Amendments in 2022 introduced a transition option
relating to comparative information about financial assets
presented on initial application of HKFRS 17 to avoid
temporary accounting mismatches between financial assets
and insurance contract liabilities.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these standards and amendments in the future
will have an impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality
Judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and early application is
permitted. Since the guidance provided in the amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary.

The directors of the Company are currently revisiting the
accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors. Definition of accounting
estimates

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Early application is permitted.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity
as appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments
shall be applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Early application is
permitted.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Liability in a Sales and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Early
application is permitted.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

2.3 Principles of consolidation

2.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position respectively.

2.3.2 Associate

Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.3.3
below), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from an associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Principles of consolidation (continued)

2.3.3 Equity method (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.9.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors who make
strategic decisions.
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MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

2.6 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if
they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
profit or loss on a net basis within “administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as derivative financial instruments are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(if) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iiiy  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Machinery 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

(a) Capitalised development costs
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique IT products controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the

following criteria are met:

o it is technically feasible to complete the software so
that it will be available for use;

o management intends to complete the software and use
or sell it;

o there is an ability to use or sell the software;

o it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits;
o adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
software are available; and

o the expenditure attributable to the software during its
development can be reliably measured.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets (continued)

(a) Capitalised development costs (continued)

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
capitalised development cost include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use.

(b) Research and development

Research expenditure and development expenditure that
do not meet the criteria in (a) above are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in
a subsequent period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating units”). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss (see 2.12),

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through OCI, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded in OCI. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

2.10.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

2.10.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
FVOCI at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
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Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investment measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

2.10.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9”), which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

Annual Report 2022 93



mREMBERRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

94

FTEFHHEBE @

2.10

2.11

RERHEMEMEE (&

2.104 J#1E (#)

EEEEV T EIBLREREEN
EEERESBE BN kGt A
FEEBEER AEEEEZEERN
HIBZMARE NEERENEE
REBENEBEL - EaERE
AEENBEERMEANEEN G
FHNEERELEERDH LB
FERIHEIEE R o

5% B E MR IBIBOOR » AW
BRZSRAENERARERE
20

ERFATKAIEESERILRE
REFNETITR MFAH) F178
NERATHAEREENEES
&%, ATHMEEARBIBE120K
FEERRZETREENREN -

BHEESMIA

EXAEEBAER AT AITEIEHE
ERRTE LA FREEGEEINF
REREENGHEaER  EREEHRS
BRI EMREH > WEMFR RS HELF
B R E R RITRMAREF RREMM
EME—MREFBRPRMEEERAT
ARFHFLIREN BEGENHKRE
By IRERBRR

TTEIA

METAERTEIRGNILERER
FEANPES HERSRESHREN
EEQATE - EAFAREHMEHREN
METRZ AT EESHAIRIIBmESD -

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

2.11

2.12

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.10.4 Impairment (continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is
more than 120 days past due.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group companies or the
counterparty.

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.16

Inventories

Raw materials and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises cost of purchase, cost
of conversion and other costs incurred to bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned to
individual items of inventory on the basis of first-in first-out
(“FIFO”). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement ranging from 15 to 45
days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment of trade receivables.
See Note 2.10 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares

or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.



REMBRRE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FEGHHEME @

2.19 EE@HN (&

(d)

BEBAEF

HEBENRAEEETEERABE
HRRIELER AEREEZERE
B AL Z @M B S T o &
ERUATHRZREEEDER
@ () AEEEEAROZERET
B Rb)EEBRN FEBG
A BEI7IRELE B K Sz T BB A
ZEAERNAF oEIRE—IBE
N EBEREMBMIBERT RS
MAREBEBERZEAZENZEEH
BstE -NHBEHREBEB T @
BRI MIEMNHAERERE

2.20 UM% A ERTR

BEZEBI—Z—"EFHEREE ) BT
HURO AERMBEERN  ARAZFEZ
BRI EE25 0

ESHERE

RBEZT—NEBEREFEREZBER
B2 ATERIREERMNFEZRAEE
Mg o T IH 2 BETI 2 E IR
RIEZ A FEERE :

BEEAHBRBEEG WERR
B

NEEEMRS RIEFH SRR RE
H EFEN - HEERERR
ERNRERBEZRGRER) 2%
- 2

BEEMAFRREG MAERMES
RREHBEREIXFTAERNG ZR
E) 2T B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.

2.20 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
the “2016 Option Scheme”. Information relating to this scheme is
set out in Note 25.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the 2016 Option Scheme is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding

increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity’s
share price),

excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period), and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the

requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Share-based payments (continued)

2.21

Employee options (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option
grant are considered an integral part of the grant itself and the
charges are treated as cash-settled transactions.

When the options are exercised, appropriate amount of shares
are transferred to the employee. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition

(a)

Sale and distribution of IT products

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. There is only one performance obligation.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the
specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers have accepted the products, as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Sale and distribution of IT products (continued)

Principal versus agent (continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Rendering of repairs and service support

The Group provides repair, maintenance and support
services for IT products. The Group has determined that
for contracts with customers under services support, there
is only one performance obligation. For the provision of
services, revenue is recognised over time in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered to customers as
the Group determined that the customer receives and uses
the benefits simultaneously.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
right to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to
the customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations give rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. Contract liabilities are recognised for services to be
provided to customers represented by the excess of consideration
received from the customers according to agreed customer billing
schedules over cumulative revenue recognised.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Leases

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use on the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Accounting as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

2.26

Accounting as a lessor (continued)

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that

was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease are

accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts for a

modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective

date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease payments

as income on a either a straight-line basis or another systematic

basis over the remaining lease term.

Earnings per share

(i)

(i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties

(@)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the group or to the group’s parent.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties (continued)

(o)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and
include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these
risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance. Current
year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to
add further context. The Group’s risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department (“Group Treasury”) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not a functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy and has not used any forward contracts,
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its
foreign currency exposure. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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1A
3 HERBER @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HBRAKAR & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) WHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)

() SIEREE () () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
AEBEBRKRESHRZINER The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the
fE O AT AU T - end of the reporting period, expressed in HK$, was as

follows:
=TT BR 7T HEE
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
= As at 31 December 2022
SE=lE|=ar—I=
BE Assets
& LT AR R TR L 1 FE WL RR Trade and other receivables 378 o -
BERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 26,886 296 296
afE Liabilities
[P 1 BR R B A FE A R Trade and other payables (630) - -
e EXTT g
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
RIEZ—% As at 31 December 2021
+=ZB=+—H
BE Assets
JFE L B % R EL Ath & WL =R Trade and other receivables 1,032 = —
ZIRBIERITER Restricted bank deposits 31,194 = <
HERRAEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 36,417 220 168
=R Liabilities
FEAT BR A R EL At FE (S R Trade and other payables (165) = =
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3.1 MBRAKER &)

(a) WHEEE (&

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

() SrERE (B (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
BHE Sensitivity
AEBETEARBEER T, BT The Group is primarily exposed to changes in EUR/
’ SERR -MNEBERY HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of post-tax profit
EXEH o HREETERE or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly
MRt R B TstEZEmMT from EUR-HK$ denominated financial instruments.
Bo
kSt 3 TET—fF
2022 2021
Hifkiax HineEa
4hEE EEz N EEZ
X E/ (&) X E/(8)
e 4 HE) mE
Positive/ Positive/
(negative) (negative)
Change effect on Change effect on
in foreign post-tax in foreign post-tax
exchange profit exchange profit
rate or loss rate or loss
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
Bic,/ BTER— EFt  EUR/HKS$ exchange rate -
increase 8% 1,113 4% 187
Bioc,/ BTER—T#  EUR/HKS$ exchange rate -
decrease (8%) (1,113) (4%) (187)

b4y > RZB-_ZF+=H1
=t+t—B - AEEEEARYH
FESREBETRRITH
NEIEBERINEZBEER
BHNERR (CEZ—£F .
BT 8 8 2570,00058 7T) °

BH P 7B oo B 5% o #h 8 o # b
ERERESMTFEME S
BE o

In addition, as at 31 December 2022, the Group
was not exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily
with respect to the potential negative impacts from
translation of intercompany balances which are
translated from HK$ to EUR (2021: potential negative
effects of HK$570,000).

The HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus foreign currency
exposure is considered as minimal and is not hedged.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Market risk (continued)

()

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity (continued)

Management believes that the appreciation/
depreciation of RMB and GBP against HK$ would not
have a material impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) after
income tax and other components of equity for the
year. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
RMB and GBP against HK$.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows associated with a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates, except for interest income derived from bank
deposits. Apart from the bank deposits held at financial
institutions, the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets at trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents. The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at medium or large-sized listed banks
with good reputation and credit rating.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision
for impairment of all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to IT products sold and are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables arise from
sales of IT products to the customers.

As at 31 December 2022, the top three debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 89.5% and
76.1% (2021: 95% and 84.5%), of the Group’s trade
receivables balance. In view of the history of business
dealings with the debtors and the sound collection history
of the receivables due from them, management believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors
saved for the debtor related to the impaired trade receivable
disclosed in the below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the provision for impairment of the trade and
other receivables based on background and reputation of the
customers, historical payment records, past experience, the
length of overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the debtors. The
directors consider that the Group’s expected loss rate to be
low and no provision for impairment of trade receivables was
made as of 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 120 days past due.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rate for other receivables was
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for other receivables was
recognised.
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3.1

3.2

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

MBERKRERER (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) FEEZREE (c) Liquidity risk
AEEEEFREBEERAKRAET The Group aims to finance its operations with its own capital
BEREEETRNERTBEEHETE and earnings and did not have any significant borrowings
AEREANEEMRS  EETT or credit facilities being utilised during the year, except
HrEmzHREEEERIN (s for a standby line of credit issued to a vendor (Note 32).
32) cAEBRBEANSG Z 5 ERK The Group maintains its own treasury function to monitor
EHFUEEErRERRSEE the current and expected liquidity requirements and aims
ERIESEBBEEESEELEZR to maintain flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash
RRERRECEEBYERTET L equivalents generated from operations. At the end of the
RIBEER ZEBDRFERSE reporting period, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
RREEBY UK EKRRR B and trade receivables, respectively, that are expected to
AIMEERSESARENREESR readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
EIMA
TRBESGFEEEBEREBEES The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
AR E N R R AAE A A EEIETT liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
SEMAaRsAARmEERARET remaining period at the consolidated balance sheet date to
D e ZRFMINBEERED AR the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
BESRE - AREREETRE table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
KoPR12EEREBZEHRERE due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the
ARTEAS BR © impact of discounting is not significant.
=~ 4T T
2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—&FNR Less than 1 year
JFE 1 R 7 R EL A FE (S % Trade and other payables 3,424 69,618
HEESE Lease liabilities 1,995 545
BARER 3.2 Capital management
KREESEERZBENA | — The Group's objectives when managing capital are to:—

RIEEFEEEE] UL HER
7 iR BRI [ 3R K A HAth =5 {0 E 4R
MR 5 &

HRREBEXRRBLURLE XK
jKO

R TR NREERERGE  AEETES

BN TRENRE

TR R R E

BEARFHITHMRUHEEELREER-

safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that
they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may

adjust

the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital

to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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EAKF o

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts
(including trade and other payables as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). The Group has a target gearing
ratio at a low level.

2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BETS Total debts 13,341 77,942
BT Total equity 160,044 146,006
8.3% 53.4%
AFEHE 3.8 Fair value estimation
(a) Z=HEE (a) Financial assets

() A FEER

RE B EE NGRS B R
RABATERIKRGEZ
/TR Z R T & PR EF
i st RRHEERF
EFfRBABEBNAEEE
BER AEBRE S ER
RESTHIADA=ZE &
[ #h 2 SEBIM TR

) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 AF{EMG & 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ETHEE (& (a) Financial assets (continued)
() RN EER (B () Fair value hierarchy (continued)

KEMEATES

T2 Recurring fair value measurements

Recurring fair value BB HoE H3E e
REMATEHE measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tota
03 FET FET FET FET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-ZfF At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+-H
EREE Financial assets
TEEmMIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - - 8,120 8,120
ZREMEARRE Financial asset at FVOCI
NEEIEZEHREE 18 - - 1,597 1,597
RIBZ—F At 31 December 2021
+ZA=+-H
EREE Financial assets
fTEEmMIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - - 9,972 9,972
ZREME ARG Financial asset at FVOCI
NFEIEZEHEE 18 - - 1,451 1,451

MAERE AT @

B2%1 2843
o

REBBERBNREHHRE
BATEREREARE N

HEh -

SH1E :

Level 1:

$28E :

Level 2:

$3E .

Level 3:

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for

B Z s recurring fair value measurements during the year.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

EERMS MARBENETERRZHS) BEENEMIANAFTERRSHANTISHRE
TR - AEEFENEREEMANDEREAEREBB -ZEITAINARTIE-

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

WIERIER™MIE WIBHNTETER) BEENEMITENAFTERAGERNEE  ZEHERMNE
EFRAHERMSHEMR MRBERNSEGs - Mt ETAATEMELEMERRAMEY
RO BRI BZT A AS2SE -

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

M—IEAZEERBAMBLIIFRBEIERTSHBEL ZT A AFIE -k LmRAE
FRVE LB ©

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.
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(a) ZEEE &
() BEAFEAAEEE

EEATEMBAERMNA
MIRBEEREDN - REFEF
BRERFER  EARNEKE
ERERAEERAFTERE
LFEMAE-BRALFHABZ
REnEEARKERRE
o

(i) EHEAT A BN B
(F3)F) 2 A FlEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

The valuation technique used to determine fair value is
discounted cash flow analysis. Based on the financial
budgets and forecast, the determination of fair value
use post-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using terminal growth rate.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (level 3)

ERBEE
Financial assets

EBHEMEZE

KR AFE

TESMTIAE JIEZEMEBEE

Derivative Financial

financial asset

instrument at FVOCI

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000
R EE Balance at 31 December 2020

+ZB=+—BZ#eR 9,917 1,457

N EES Change in fair value 494 (6)

PE 72 = %8 Exchange difference (439) =
N ZE T — Balance at 31 December 2021

+ZB=1+—Hz#&&% 9,972 5461

N EES Change in fair value (1,010) 146

P& 2 A= 58 Exchange difference (842) -
= —— Balance at 31 December 2022

+ZB=+—HZ%&E 8,120 1,597

ZBHEMEERZRATE
SIEZERMEERITEEZR
TEZRAFETRBEMEIRER
EREERETAUHREHAY
B (BEBRARRERE RS
BREIREK) EE -

The fair value of the financial asset at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments were determined based
on discounted cash flow with unobservable inputs
including revenue growth rates and risk adjusted
discount rate.
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3.3 AF{EMG @) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ZTHEE (/B (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1EEGABIER AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
17
R+ZA=t-HZ BAYE
Bt ATfE FOBRBALE (BE=mig) €& FORRRABRANTEZHE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value  Sensitivity
—ECC 5% ZEICE “B”-%
2022 2021 2022 2021
FET TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000
ﬁﬁﬁ# BME AR EGEZTE 8,120 9972 EEWAKEE 2-9% 210% MEERAREEFEMRER LA FERAREX L/ (FE)1.5% 8
EHMIR Annual revenue growth rate HARBEERERE ‘”?ﬁ?}ﬁ ATEREEN/ ( /J“E"‘ 5719,000\%7_5
Derivative financial nstrument B BEERARREREIRAE /(3,00087T) (ZF=—F 318,000
in relation to the interest in an SEGARBELEE M7 ﬂ"&?fﬁ /ﬁﬁ/(GGZ,OOO%TE))“
associate BEgbo Increase/(decrease) in annual
If annual revenue growth rate or revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
terminal growth rate increases, or risk- increase/(decrease) the fair value by
adjusted discount rate decreases, the approximately HK$19,000/(HK$3,000)
fair value would increase; if annual (2021: HK$318,000/(HK$662,000)).
revenue growth rate decreases or
terminal growth rate or risk-adjusted REEEELF / (BE) 1% AT
BRIBRR 2.3% 2% discount rate increases, the fair value Eﬁ%‘imf]ﬂ/ /W‘ Zﬁ 1,880,000
Terminal growth rate would decrease. 7/ (1,623,00087) (CEZ—F:
600 00077z / (616,000%77))
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease)
the fair value by approximately
HK$1,880,000/(HK$1,623,000) (2021:
HK$600,000/(HK$618,000)).
ARERERE 15.50% 12.30% RRBRARE 7/ () 0.5% A
Risk-adjusted discount rate @FE%@(JY/“)/“’BDK’J( 1,316,000
B7) /1,427,008 (ZBZ—F
(1,721,000%87%) /1,869 00087%) *
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$1,316,000)/HK$ 1,427,000 (2021:
(HKS1,721,000)/HK$1,889,000).
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3 HERKBEIRw 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 QAFEME (B

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) ZTHEE (&) Financial assets (continued)
EHEEA IR R AE N FEZ Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
Fit7 (48) (continued)
R+zA=+-B2
Bt AFE FOBREASE FOBRRABRANTEZHE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
- S _B_-F
2022 2021
7Er  FEn
HK$'000  HK$000
LR AES 1,507 1451 FERARRE HEEMABRES R, MEH%’ EEWAREREH/ (K1E)1.5%

Unlisted equity security

Annual revenue growth rate

REERE
Terminal growth rate

el geld xS

Risk-adjusted discount rate

i) TTE%@E@A%HF‘ZF&EJI
EHRNTEBREAY
%Z%jﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%o

(ii) M%EE%E:ﬁUﬁﬁFﬁzzpy_]
WAL EEXA8.4% (ZF
S—E70%) 0

m RAEM R MW‘J TERE

1 BEERAEESABREES
ﬁéf&ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%i%ﬁlJ’&ﬂ?ﬁ
HaF Do
If annual revenue growth rate or
terminal growth rate increases, or risk-
adjusted discount rate decreases, the
fair value would increase; if annual
revenue growth rate or terminal growth
rate decreases, or risk-adjusted
discount rate increases, the fair value
would decrease.

Notes:

(i

8 ’Mﬁﬁ?}ﬁtmﬂu/ m ﬁ744o 000
B/ (423,00087) (CE-—%
33000057,/ (317,00087))
Increase/(decrease) in annual
revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
increase/(decrease) the fair value
by approximately HK$440,000/
(HK$423,000) (2021: HK$330,000/
(HK$317,000)).

R méﬁiﬂ/ (F&18) 1% BIAF
EReEm/ (A2)) 478,00087w,/
(67000 7) (CBZ—% 87,0008
7t/ (75,00087)) °
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease) the
fair value by approximately HK$78,000/
(HK$67,000) (2021: HK$87,000/
(HK$75,000)).

m;ﬁ”ﬁﬁfﬁ.fiﬂ/ (F&1E) 0.5%
E‘ IATERE (D) /Ema (56 000
%7) /6100087 (2=
(61,000%7%) /66,000%7%) °
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$56,000)/HK$61,000 (2021:
(HKS61,000)/HK$66,000).

There were no significant inter-relationship between
unobservable that materially affect fair value.

The average revenue growth rate covering the five-year
forecast period was 8.4% (2021: 7.2%).
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(a) ZHEE (&

v)

ZEESF

REBZMHHHIFMER
BETHM B AR ENGE
(BESEIEATE) -HE
EREEREER KSR
REEREHBAMGEERR
RERET R

FEBEAZ TEEIBHA
B EU TS EEE R
T

. THEEZWHRREXT
EREXAEEEBER
AEEUSERRE
BEBEBEZEMD
LM RZEEZR
EREZ AL =R

. RZHELZHERR
HE (BEAMEEE
WEZ|RR) HARE
B EkE & R RS E
NEEE Z 5 E R R
ERISH -

. FEMRAERSZTZF
EWAERERRL
BEXDREBEEUA
Bz HiGE MG

FIWATEZ BPRERE
R IR E R RS HE 1T
S LE {5 B 5 B T LS 4 o
feBEM Rz — 85 B
BHLIRBATERH
REZHE o

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(v)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group performs
valuations of non-property items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. They
report directly to the management. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived
and evaluated as follows:

. Discount rates for financial asset is determined
using a capital asset pricing model to calculate
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

o Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties
(including assumptions about credit default rates)
are derived from credit risk gradings determined
by the Group’s internal credit risk management
group.

o Annual revenue growth rate and terminal growth
rate for unlisted equity securities are estimated
based on market information for similar types of
companies.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end
of each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the management and the finance
department. As part of this discussion, the finance
department presents a report that explains the reason
for the fair value movements.
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stifst RBER ZE

B ERLENRERGR -EEETRHEAER

RS

5T R 1 I

st A EEFEN G - ANERELKR K
HEMRAZ SFEJESTERSHYBEER

E@E%ﬁ |ﬁ /R—FE/L\,\/\

(a)

(b)

BREZRREMZ G5

HEt U EREARRGRERE

FEEETEME BERRFEZESH
ERFEH MFEEREMATESER i
ST ARIRIE LI B RINEZ W ~ BB &
REZERERAFEHZBELRFL -
WA EAFRORBEMGTZER K&
EREREEIEINITEER BREESE
MRS ERERER  MERR
HREETIHEGHNGREERRE -EHE
%YﬁﬁﬂTﬁEZE%&ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

HREE) MARKAARE 2 TERZ g AM
HIREE o

i EREMEENERATEIEZ
ETHMEERTESMIAZATE

WIREARTSEEEZEMTEZAF
ENERAGERMEE FAEBEBEH
FIBTEEERB A ZLFHIEZERNER
SHREEZITRZBR -FIAEERR

REBHZERRZZEZFBRME
3.3(a)°

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Estimated useful lives and residual value

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will increase the depreciation
charge prospectively where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future periods.

(b) Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments

The fair values of financial instrument that are not traded in an
active market is determined using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the
key assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions see Note 3.3(a).

Annual Report 2022 119



mREMBERRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 FEMERAE @

120

(c)

(d)
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EEMSIRBENAFEHERAE - H
BEBEER X RAENERNBE
EREGBHIE - WA EBBRZFHER
FIAEE R AR BN A st &I
BEMEREE > WARERHEASRNAS R
FiiSiaE-

s B 32 i 50 7% oK SR FE R AR it 7 & 7T A 1R
D) B) B ERRS = AR S IR TR RS 1 T - QI FE
RARETRHRERE=RKRIRERSE
BYEIEPRISME E - ETRHI R R G5 T F
B > 75 A 22 BRI it 51 4 B0 HA R RO SR SE P
BREEKRFASNHNERERTE -

77 E A

FETS AR ST FEME ZRKE
EstE -HAZRERBNFEMRA A E
EIRIR(E] > R 7 B B A R 2= ] S 1R %
E-MZEFFEELCKRER 2B
MRENEE T Bl BRI e EE R
B i EEEZ Gt EN AEFES
Bl 7S 7R B] SE SR A WL E] e MUBI =8 i 2 2R
SEFEZREERETSRBEZER E
TE 77 & 7) 5 UK (0] Ry 28 F tH S8 K 4 B o 5L 1R
TR E R > AE TS (HPaE) 2
BEESAWEMRIBEZ RERIZE -

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(c)

(d)

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax treatment
is subject to judgement. If the Group considers it is probable that
these judgements will result in different tax positions, the most
likely amounts of the outcome will be estimated and adjustments
to the income tax expense and income tax liabilities will be made
accordingly.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which
such estimates have been changed.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is written down to net realisable value when
there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not
be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable
if those inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become
wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if the
estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.
The amount written off to profit or loss is the difference between
the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In
determining whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant
judgement is required. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all
means to which the amount will be recovered.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(e)

Impairment of interest in an associate

Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of asset can be supported by its
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s reported financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow
projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

KEBZWALERUWT : The Group derives the following types of revenue:
—s =
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
HE RDHEITE S Sales and distribution of IT products 357,345 345,129
HERRBEXZIE Repairs and service support 10,815 4,741
AU Total revenue 368,160 349,870

FEBRTIENFHERDHTERUREMHT
ERmZEEREMREESE -

The Group is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of IT
products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT
products.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”). The
Executive Directors have determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by them that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Executive Directors examine the Group’s performance from a product
perspective, and have identified two reportable segments of the Group’s
business:

(i) Sales and distribution of IT products: this part of business designs,
manufactures and markets video surveillance systems and
distributes third party IT products; and

(ii) Repairs and service support: repairs, maintenance and other
service support for electronic products are provided under this part
of business.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

No sales between segments are carried out during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021. The revenue from external parties
is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Interest income from bank deposits, interest on lease liabilities and
corporate expenses are not allocated to segments, as these types of
activities are driven by the central treasury function, which manages the
cash position of the Group.
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5 WAKRDEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

HE_ S __F+_BA=+—HLEEERNHZ

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

HzoEERWT : 2022 is as follows:
BE-_TS--_F+ZHB=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HER HIER
DEEITE SR PR %5 2 & st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEINEER ZWA Revenue from external customers 357,345 10,815 368,160
N S Time of revenue recognition
—NE KRR, — At a point in time 357,345 10,371 367,716
—R— R - Over time = 444 444
DEERA Segment profit 9,264 2,447 11,711
IRITERFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 652
Haug A Other income 3,056
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,583)
TEER Depreciation charge (1,137)
MESMTRAZAFERBE Fair value loss on derivative financial
instrument (1,010)
VRN Finance costs (108)
KXPEATEXZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (2,153)
KE RN Operating profit 8,428
EREEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — R B A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 292
FRPETISIM AR F] Profit before income tax 8,720
FRiEMBE X Income tax expenses (3,299)
AR EF Profit for the year 5,421
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5 WARSEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
HE_ T - F+_B=+—HIEEEMRRZ The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
Hz2EEERNT . (& 2022 is as follows: (continued)

HE_E-_F+-_HA=F—BIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

HER HER
DEEITER IR % 1R *n ke fast
Sales and Repairs
distribution of  and service
IT products support  Unallocated Total
FAET FAET FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ME BB KRR EITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 60 - 1,137 1,197
FHESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 702 650 - 1,352
(RFEERERR) BEEEE (Net reversal of provision)/net
provision for inventories (33) 79 - 46
MiHES Write-off of inventories 9 - - 9
MERERSH Research and development
expenditures 1,265 - - 1,265
RBEERBEE Additions to non-current assets 1,310 3,021 - 4,331
e+ A =+—H
As at 31 December 2022
HER HIER
DEEITE H R & 4 st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AERSEEE Reportable segment assets 15,171 3,219 18,390
R—REBEA AR 2 #m Interest in an associate 6,053
TEEMIA Derivative financial instrument 8,120
ReERFAEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 138,122
ROERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 2,700
REMBERRRAZEEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 173,385
A2k EAR Reportable segment liabilities 7,316 3,315 10,631
FESIRIE Tax payables 738
APERBTERE Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,972
REMBERRRANZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 13,341
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5 WARDEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_Z_—FT+_A=+—HLEFERRZ

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

Bz 2EERNT : 2021 is as follows:
BE_ZT-—F+"A=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE & HIER
DEEITE M@ AR %5 52 1% “ast
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FAET FET
HK$ 000 HK$’'000 HK$000
REIINEE L Z WA Revenue from external customers 345,129 4,741 349,870
N S Time of revenue recognition
—NE KRR, — At a point in time 345,129 4,344 349,473
— R — BB - Over time - 397 397
DEERA Segment profit 5,311 1,994 7,305
IRITERFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 39
Hang A Other income 2,952
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,192)
TEER Depreciation charge (2,999)
MEEMITAEZ R FERR Fair value gain on derivative financial
instrument 494
VRN Finance costs (63)
KXPEATEXZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (2,203)
KE RN Operating profit SRR
EREEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — R B A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 673
FRETE IR AT A Profit before income tax 4,006
FRiEMBE X Income tax expenses (1,774)
KEEGZH Profit for the year 2080,
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5 WARSEERR @

BE-S-—F+-A=+—BIEERIZ

Bzo8EERWT @ (8

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

2021 is as follows: (continued)

Ege O s ) = S — [B|leeEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE R HER
DEHITE M R#% =& E i oy
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Unallocated Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ME BB REEITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 88 - 2,293 2,381
FREEEINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 176 - 706 882
BEERE Net provision for inventories 370 - - 370
WiHEE Write-off of inventories 2 - = 2
MERERZH Research and development
expenditures 1,370 - - il 370
REFERDEE Additions to non-current assets 35 13 542 590
e B S = - —
As at 31 December 2021
HE K HIER
SEEITE S AR 752 & st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of IT and service
products support Total
FAET FAET FAET
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AE2RSEEE Reportable segment assets 72,078 2,278 74,356
R—EBEA T 2 #m Interest in an associate 7,637
TEEMTA Derivative financial instrument 9,972
ZIRBIERITERR Restricted bank deposits 31,194
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 98,850
RAPERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 2,039
REMBERRRANZEEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 223,948
A2moEasE Reportable segment liabilities 72,687 721 73,408
IR Tax payables 2,790
APERBTEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,744
REMBERRRANZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 77,942

Ma  RPBEABDRAXE-—RABDMA MRATAE
HFERHEMKDE—RRITEBAX
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WARDEER @

FEBFTZHIEE -DNABENERRRED
EEH TRITRAEERTRUEE D ZRE
SMERRR ZWAZBRREAEREREEME
BEXREDZIFRBEE-

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The Group’s business activities are conducted predominantly with
customers in North America, Asia and Europe. The amount of its
revenue from external customers broken down by location of the Group’s
customers and non-current assets based on countries where the Group’s
entities operate is shown in the table below.

EEIMBERZBA

Revenue from

FERBEE

external customers Non-current assets

—Eg”C B —F —_E-_ B —F

2022 2021 2022 2021

FET FAET FET FET

HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$'000

ESE| United States 207,417 110,621 - 4
=% Taiwan 74,070 73,216 18 39
&5 Hong Kong 38,839 106,073 1,024 1,518
fa1 Netherlands 31,250 52,542 - 356
B Australia 7,164 4,344 884 -
HZs Japan 7,028 - - -
FH [ P 3t Mainland China 4 17 1,412 40
Hih Others 2,388 3,057 - 1
368,160 349,870 3,338 1,958

BUR M 8B 2 = A8 Bl 44 2 52 B AB U A\ 2811 0% 52 T
RIS E R D SHITE fa ) 48

The following external customers individually contribute over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue and are attributable to the sales and distribution of
IT products segment:

e — — —E-—%

2022 2021

FAET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

ZHAA Customer A 102,241 64,193
EFB Customer B 47,008 :
EEC Customer C 46,609 73,213
EEBD Customer D 39,126 *
ZRAE Customer E & 41,221

* G F AN EFAERAANTTET10%Z A ©

Representing revenue contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the

Group during the year.
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WARDEER @

(@ EH&EE

FEBERR NI ARERGHNZEE !

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(a) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

AREERDHTERZENER

=== B —F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Contract liabilities related to sales and
distribution of IT products 3,479 1,426

BNERERFEARATRZANE R
ERWRENBENRE- R - —F R
TG+ HB=+—H ' 8NEREE
BEREREARREEITE @R E 5]
FEFEBTEMNRIE s B ERAR]
B EKRE RS —FAEEH/UA -

(b) MENEBRBRBZBA

Contract liabilities represent advance payments received from
customers for goods that have not yet been delivered to the
customers. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the contract
liabilities mainly included the advance payments received from
individual customers for sales of IT products after the end of
respective reporting period. The contract liabilities are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year from date of inception of
respective contracts.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

—e-—# —m-—F
2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
W—B—HB2Z&8 Balance as at 1 January 1,426 24
RFEERDBEVGFAGHNEEZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
WABHEHNEBERD recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (1,426) (24)
WEFENRIBEER SN aEEMN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advance payments received 3,479 1,426
R+ZB=+—BHZ#&e Balance as at 31 December 3,479 1,426

FEBBESNZRERAFEH-—RS
—FRUT At xEEMEERBEEBH
BREZENF1GRZBEREEHR L E
REDPEEXNBREMARKRAFTENRS
RRFRA—FIUATHENTREGRRE
NEEZXRZERK-

The Group’s sales contracts generally have an original expected
duration of one year or less and accordingly, the Group has applied
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 not to disclose the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for the
contracts existed at the end of the reporting period that has an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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6 HfgA 6 OTHER INCOME
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
LW A Rental income 2,400 2,400
IRITERFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 652 39
Hih Others 889 326
3,941 2,765
X (EEE2) 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1% 20BN Bl <& Auditors’ remuneration
— B IZIRTS — Audit services 700 650
—IEB LR - Non-audit services 100 100
FMEEEMA Cost of inventories sold 337,347 322,343
WEER (Ha15) Depreciation charge (Note 15)
e/ E NG — Property, plant and equipment 1,197 2,381
—fFREEEEA - Right-of-use-assets included within:
—fHELT BT — Leasehold land and buildings 1,297 706
—_E - Motor vehicles 55 176
RBRERFBES (BIEEZEMS) (B7528) Employee benefits expenses, including directors’
emoluments (Note 8) 12,227 13,408
HREERX Short-term lease expenses 358 386
WS 2~ R R ok Written off of property, plant and equipment - 1)
HEWE BERRKREZ KRR Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (10)
PE 2 U /3 KB Net foreign exchange gain (445) (639)
R—REEEA Bz #m 2 RERE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 275 164
FEEEEG (B AMEERA) Net provision for inventories
(Kt &£20) (included in cost of sales) (Note 20) 46 370
WEEFEE (Ha20) Write-off of inventories (Note 20) 9 2
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EERMFAX (BEEFEME)

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2022 2021

FAET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

e~ TE kHEME Salaries, wages and other benefits 11,739 12,650
BRE—-FRERMETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 488 758
12,227 13,408

(a)

BIAE—FE MRS

A E B RE(EB ARG M QR 5B R
P AREBFITHEREZEESH
Al AREE (MBRREE) ° 58
BESEARBUREAEBEZAEMR
TORIRET B RIFBRIBE B BEERHE
EEXEASRZESHMBBAZE%H
1,600 70 (UERIEE B %) @5t 8 7o

AEEBRBENSEEZIRBABRES
Superannuation Fundpf & > ZE &% H
B S NEBEZREERTIERARETE o A&
EEBEREBEHLERAZ10.5%EHMER
MEBESFAAEZE T LR

FEERPERBEEZNBARES
% TRREH ER S » & E 7 BB
EFZ REMBRARETE - AEHARE
ERBWAZEERDLLEH MR ER
BFFIREZET LR B TRASHIE
ZERBEDHEIRMT

B TRAE 6%
TR 8%
BERIRIR | 4.9%

FEEBNEEREZEEDEARNK
ZH ((MEAERKREHE) (FHER - AER
REEBMBINAZ16%MZBIKNE L
R o

FEESNATHZREZEERZ(BER
ER)EEZEETFFHER -ZEES
HHABIRFEAEFZ R EH/RRNKE
BloerEEZEERBALNS IR ZE
ELsHEIFHHEMR

(a)

Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong SAR. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at the lower of 5% of
the employees’ relevant income or HK$1,500 each month.

Employees of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Australia
are members of the Superannuation Fund, which is a defined
contribution retirement plan operated by independent trustees. The
Group is required to make contributions calculated as 10.5% of the
employees’ gross income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.

The employee of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Republic
of China is a member of the labour pension system, which is a
defined contribution retirement plan operated by the government.
The Group is required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employee’s relevant income, subject
to certain ceilings imposed. The applicable percentages for the
labour pension system are listed below:

Labour pension: 6%
Labour insurance: 8%
Health insurance: 4.9%

The Group contributes Individual Retirement Arrangement (the
“IRA”) for the employee employed in the United States. The Group
made contributions calculated as 16% of the employee’s gross
income to the pension arrangement.

The Group contributes a pension fund governed by the Pensions
Law for the employee employed under the jurisdiction of
Netherlands. The pension fund is a defined contribution retirement
plan operated by independent trustees. The Group made
contributions calculated as approximately 8.1% of the employee’s
gross income to the pension scheme.
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(&
(a) BAE-FEEMRHE (&

FAMESRHRRER (T2 Z—F !

) o

RERFEREDZERAESZGHR (T2
——FiE\-

(b) EiUMEERSZAL

HE-S--G+-A=+—HLEE
AEETAMEREZA LD ILE (=
TN RAANER BEAL
B BB Y 502 BB PS » MAAEBE » FLf
SR ALZHENT

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
D|RECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Pensions - defined contribution plans (continued)

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year (2021: Nil).

No contributions were payable to the pension fund at the year-end
(2021: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
none of them (2021: None) was director of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure in Note 9 for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The emoluments of the five (2021: five)
for the year are as follows:

2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BEARFHE ERZEW M2 Basic salaries, housing allowances, other
ERyE =R allowances and benefits in kind 3,232 5,340
BARS WA —FEM—RETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 163 417
3,395 8,757
s EmT - The emoluments fell within the following bands:
2022 2021
A% A
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
E&EE B Emolument bands (in HK$)
£ %E1,000,000%8 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 5 2
1,000,001t E 1,500,000 75 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 - S
5 5

FR-HERLUMEESZ AL
EACFNIPN= R 3 A =

During the year, no emoluments have been paid to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or as compensation for
loss of office.
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BE_E__S+_B=+—HILEE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

EEmBHk
=414 ]
ik fi& BRI BNEH  EHZHX azt
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BTESE Executive directors
HLREE (FR) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) 420 - - S - 420
REAZT Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = S o - - -
BERRE Mr. Han Chun-Wei o - - - - -
#Z3H%E Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann = > - - - -
FHTES Non-executive director
BRELE Mr. Kao Chao Yang S = - - - -
BIFRTES Independent non-executive directors
BEELE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - = = > 120
SMBEE M. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 - - - - 120
HERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - - - - 120
780 - - - - 780
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9 EFEMEw 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
EEMMERBBOT Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:
BE_Z_— 4+ _HB=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEmERHR
2ER B8
ik T BB BYEN Rz ER st
Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
Discretionary ~ Allowance and benefit
Fees Salary bonuses  benefits in kind scheme Total

TA7T TA7T TE7T TA7T TE7T TE7T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BTESR Executive directors
HRRLE (Z) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) 420 - - = = 420
REALT Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = - = - - -
BEREE Mr. Han Chun-Wei = - = - - -
-2 P Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann - = - n _ _
ERTES Non-executive director
BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang - = = - - -
BUEATES Independent non-executive directors
BEELE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 = = = = 120
et I 3 M. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 ; . g , 120
HERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - = = = 120
780 - - - - 780
BHEZ- -+ RB=+—HIEE K& No emoluments was paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement
EMERNEEXNMNEEAMARERIMN to join or upon joining the Group or as an compensation for the loss of
AXEERZREBABERBE (T2 —F . office for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:Nil). In addition, no
m N BE_E__FRIBE—F+T directors waived or agreed to any emoluments during the years ended 31
B=t—HUEFEE ITESEEREXBDENRE December 2022 and 2021.
EREHE o
ERAMATEEZZMENTERREREES The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
FAEEARBRAEBREH 2RBEMEL o & their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
RATIERATESZHMENDETERRBEULRR Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
BRENBRAESERNIRERFEMEH - & shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
RIAIMBIUFERTEEZMEDETEMRREU or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
KANBELZGMIRMERBMEH o shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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10 BAFERk s

10 FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

HEaEZFIE Interest on lease liabilities 108 63

11 fEAT]

FEBR_T_—

11

E+-A=+—HZEEMN

BABHINNMT - FRIFSBPrIE SRIEEAE
BRAEEEERAZEEBRZRAKRPIFTE
EREERESTRAEEFTAZKREE M
PRI B EE SRR TR A H E B R Rh

i

BaE

1 B 32 3t B R
ENERER

Place of incorporation and

SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 are set out

below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely

of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion

of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.

The place of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of

business.

TEEH

BERTRAHE FEERAZHEEED

Particulars of
issued share

Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
SeESE STy
2022 2021
% %
GircuTech Investment EBRUHEE BREZER 1578 100 100
Holdings (BVI) Limited (EBEREE))
BRAH
British Virgin Islands (‘BVI”),  Investment holding US$1
limited liability company
Signal Communications EBREUHE ARRAE REER 15,000,000/ 7T 100 100
Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability company  Investment holding HK$15,000,000
AEBERERRAA BB BRAH REER TERZHERDH HER 18T 100 100
HiRB &
CircuTech Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Investment holdings, sales and HK$1
company distribution together with repairs and
other service support of IT products
MEEEE (FB) BRAT &8 BRAH TERZHERDH  EEREMBRH 1,000/ 7T 100 100
XI&
CircuTech Enterprises (HK) Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability Sales and distribution together with HK$1,000
company repairs and other service support of
IT products
GircuTech Holdings Alliances AR BRAE TERZHERDH 0.01B7T 100 100
(Netherlands) B.V.
Netherlands, Limited liability Sales and distribution of IT products EURO0.01

company
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B 32 3t B e
BEELE ENERER

Place of incorporation and

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TELH BETRAHE FEEAREZHAERER
Particulars of
issued share  Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
—E”°C &
2022 2021
% %
CircuTech Inc. Z68 BRAR TERZHEERDH 1,000% 7T 100 100
United States, limited liability ~ Sales and distribution of IT products US$1,000
company
CircuTech Australia Pty. Ltd. BN BRAT TERZEBRRHEZE 1B 100 100
Australia, limited liability Repairs and service support of IT AUD1
company products
N8 BRERS (R BRRAE  HEAREME SMERE TERZEBRREHZE 5,000,000 7% 100 100
Circutech Technology Services The People’s Republic of Repairs and service support of IT HK$5,000,000
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd China, wholly-owned foreign products
enterprise
TERBEARAT R BRAS REEERRZHERBERFERD 1,000 7% 100 100
BHE
Signal Communications Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Research and development and sales HK$1,000
company. and marketing of video surveillance
systems
AEERRARAT" A BRAS TERZEBRRHE 3,000,000% 7% 51 TER
Circutex Technology Limited* Hong Kong, limited liability Repairs and service support of IT US$3,000,000 N/A
company products

* RIBZ —FAAMaEMAIL

*

Newly incorporated in September 2022

R—HEBREA AT Z D 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
Ey—— —E-—&
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
K—HA—H As at 1 January 7,537 7,378
!‘ETE = AT XS Share of results of an associate 292 673
BEl—REBEATRKE Dividend received from an associate (824) -
BEEE Impairment loss (275) (164)
PERE%E Exchange difference (677) (350)
W+-ZB=+—H As at 31 December 6,053 7,537

TXHIAERAR _E - _F+ "B =+—H
ZEEMEQNT TXAINBEZRAERE
AEMEFAZ B BRAAM o 52 M A1 E M
BEXRTARETEEXME BSEZERAR
T bE ) SR I RAELE IR E o

Set out below is the principal associate of the Group as at 31 December
2022. The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company. The country
of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held.
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

M
BRAE &3 1 PR 32 B R REEE SHERE ARG
Place of
business/country Nature of Measurement % of
Name of the entity of incorporation relationship method ownership interest
i R e — £
2022 2021
4Square Return GmbH = BE AT @t 21% 21%
Germany Associate Equity method

ZBMERARDTE (LHEEERM BAKRE
1T#) EERAEA  EHEEREHRT I
EREIWRE EEBEHRS Q- BEER
ERBS - REBERERNBETFTEMIFHE LUK
B 0 BE R R o

WHEE R E

R ZE-—NFEARBEBE  AEETLEEH
% MBI A LU EE4Square Return GmbH
(T4Square ) BEETRAZ21%#Em R
X 1E%1,600,0008% 7t (18 &7 4914,5608,000
BIT) oADK AEERINEEHAEEE
13(i)4Squarez21%B& # > B 2~ #36,569,0007#
TTR(i)— M REHA R ECIEAE A FENA
7,939,000 ZERHZFNR T —N\NFEL A
+HBEEMRe

REAERSAEBMRTEHRRNRIRERER
EPTERREE 21T EWHE4SquareZ Fi B
BRNARD o TTEHRTI R4Square R ERHEE —
TC=F+ A=+ HIEFEZRERES
MBEREEMOHEEEERNEARZEXH
2 H (TREEERERAR ) o A& M H R 08 AR
HARS JE W AT M R TSR BE A #E > Rll4SquareH
MIRERER BREAREARE R =@ MUA
BERAEBEFRF4SquareIFRBE R K > REA
1,600,0008% 7T ° IR IE B B 75 3R &5 ZERI 5958
R R R RIEE BB IR AT ES
BzBE—EBaTEEMI A

The associate is principally engaged in compliance consulting, the
provision of sales and marketing services, collecting and take back
services, asset remarketing services, recycling, commodities aggregation
and trading, certified waste electrical and electronic equipment
disassembly, and metals separation and concentration, in particular,
in the information technology, telecommunications and electronics
industries.

Summary of acquisition

On 4 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to acquire 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square Return GmbH
(“4Square”) from independent parties by cash consideration of
EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,508,000). In return,
the Group is entitled to (i) 21% of equity interest in 4Square at a cost
of HK$6,569,000 and (ii) a call option and buy-back option at fair value
of approximately HK$7,939,000 at the date of the acquisition. The
transaction was completed on 19 July 2018.

The call option allows the Group to acquire all the remaining shares
of 4Square in the exercise period at an exercise price determined in
accordance with the terms set out in shareholders’ agreement. The
exercise period is from the date that the audited consolidated financial
statements of 4Square for year ending 31 December 2023 are filed in
Germany until the Business Day that falls six months thereafter (“Call
Option Period”). If the Group does not exercise the call option before
the expiry of Call Option Period, the other 4Square existing shareholders
may buy-back all of the shares in the 4Square held by the Group
within three months from the expiry of the Call Option Period for the
consideration of EUR1,600,000. The call option and buy-back option
were treated as a single component derivative financial instrument at fair
value through profit and loss under HKFRS 9.
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12 M—REBE AR 2R @

WREEERE (&

BB R A B A S B U B8 B HAFE (5 4Square
R EEKRBENA T EFEMNED T,
AHEE AR —EBREAR 2 #m-

RBEZE-__F+-A=1+—HLFEHS
HH£9292,0008 7T (ZF = —4F : £9673,000%
7)) (AEREEBERRER -

LMt AT R F IR R BPKF Wulf & Partnerz®
%o

RS- —F+—BN\B AEETI—HE
i LSRR EENEEE S =

+Z A=+ B MR ERSRRIR
4SquareBIF B FIE I E R B ATRA 25
EH-B—AE "B-SE "S- —FRk-
S HEEBRES M BERRMR4Square
ARIMBEE S E o b LAt SN R SR 2 RS HLA

IR T o

R-E__H+_H=+—H>4Squarez A&
Cl&BEHAARESRECHEBEFEHEL
SEREEETLBEEAARATETZEEM
EMET ZEERAUBE AR STERIE
HEREH (CE-—F  AFH) NUBEER
AERNBESREREN AEH (CE—£F .
AEH U LELNREREERBEEEE2.3%

TEZ—F12%) #BE > MZEEEXRGRE
ERTERERSE AUTEBEHE QAT L
EMEESHNTEERAEER AEPRAN
MATBE IR K 515.50% (B —4F :12.30%) °

EERA AREFERBMNCER DTS
BERAENEESRE N_BEZZ8+=
B=+—H 1R LT {H>4SquareZ Bk @
& GOBRAER) 6,053 F BT (ZE - —4F !
7,5637FBx) SR ETIRE &% AL 5t
AR—HEBEASA 2B EEREBEY
275,000/ (ZF = —4  49164,00078 70) ¥
B AR o

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summary of acquisition (continued)

The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 4Square at the date
of acquisition was recognised as goodwill and included the interest in an
associate.

A profit of approximately HK$292,000 representing the Group’s share of
results of the associate was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: approximately HK$673,000).

The financial statements of the above company is audited by PKF Wulf &
Partner.

On 8 November 2021, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
to extend the Call Option Period to 31 December 2023 and the call
option price will be based on 5 times the earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of the 4 Square minus the aggregate
amount by which the net profit of the 4Square as set out in the 2019,
2020, 2021, 2022 audited consolidated financial statements. Save
for the above, all other terms of the shareholders’s agreement remain
unchanged.

At 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of 4Square was
determined by the directors of the Company based on value-in-use
calculations with reference to a professional valuation performed by
Flagship Appraisals and Consulting Limited. The calculation used cash
flow projection based on the financial budget approved by management
of associate covering a five-year period (2021: five-year period). The
cash flows beyond the five-year period (2021: five-year period) are
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.3% (2021: 2%), which is
pbased on the relevant industry growth rate and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the business in which the associates
operate. The pre-tax discount rate adopted in the calculation is 15.50%
(2021: 12.30%).

In the opinion of the Directors, the prolonged change in economic
conditions in Europe as a result of Russia-Ukraine war is an objective
evidence of impairment. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of 4Square, before impairment, is higher than its recoverable amount
of HK$6,053K (2021: HK$7,537K) based on the above assessment.
Accordingly, an impairment loss on goodwill included in interest in
an associate of approximately HK$275,000 (2021: approximately
HK$164,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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R—RBE AT 2R @
MEARZHEENEE

TREINBMERARDZHBERBE -FIIREZ
BERRRIBRMBE AR Z RS M BRETES]
HNEER > MIFAE BEKRERARA B EML
ERTR -=FTBHE TES  URMKREREH
B ZREZRE  BEME s BREEM
(AT
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summarised financial information for an associate

The tables below provide summarised financial information for the
associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant associate and
not CircuTech International Holdings Limited’s share of those amounts.
They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity
when using the equity method, including modifications for differences in

accounting policy.

2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BERATEBY Cash and cash equivalents 4,973 17,770
HtRs&EE Other current assets 27,281 31,460
WRIMEE Total current assets 32,254 49,230
FEREBEE Non-current assets 25,160 314437
mEaR Current liabilities (27,258) (37,081)
ErEBIR Non-current liabilities (5,398) (13,693)
BEEFE Net assets 24,758 29,893
SR E 2 HER - Reconciliation to carrying amounts:
REYZEEFE Net assets at beginning of the year 29,893 28,045
IR E Dividend payout (4,040) =
REE imF Profit for the year 1,390 3,205
PE 72 7= &8 Exchange difference (2,485) (1,357)
FREEZFE Net assets at end of the year 24,758 29,893
KEBDHZEHDLE Group’s share in % 21% 21%
KEBDE—BEHEA Group’s share in net assets of an associate 5,199 6,278
[EES Goodwill 1,048 iIFS23!
PE 70 7= &8 Exchange difference (194) (64)
IRMEE Carrying amount 6,053 7,537
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)

2022 2021

FHET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

WA Revenue 102,604 103,695

18 R 1 8 Depreciation and amortisation (3,169) (3,690)

MERZ Interest expense (514) (832)

RIBZ Tax expenses (1,033) (1,574)
RE RN R H 2| Profit and other comprehensive income

for the year 1,390 3,205

RIEZ-F+"A=+—H #MEARLE
ER—EHEAERmzRAEE (T —
F i E)  R_E_—_F#+_BA=+—H'&
EEUTEEGE—BBHEATZEARAKRKE (T2
Z—fF i@\

PSR

EBNEBRIIMEE_E-_—F+=-"BA=+—
HIEFEZ Gt EREREF%16.5% (T2
F116.5%) T8 > A E B — R B A 5 R
S ZRBAAREFRERMAFINEERE
BE o %M1 B A B FE R F A F) 2 E2,000,00078 7T
:7 — —4 : 2,000,000 7T) #%8.25% (=
T —%F :8.25%) B MER FESRR BRI
16 5% (T2 —1% 1 16.5%) R o

R Z MBS MAFEMLSHERNEF IR EE
BEEMTER MEZBARESH

13

There is no contingent liability in relation to the Group’s interest in an
associate on 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group has no share of capital commitments of an associate (2021:
Nil).

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 16.5%),
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tier profits tax regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2021:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at
8.25% (2021: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5% (2021: 16.5%).

Taxation on profit has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit
for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/places in
which the Group operates.

2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000

EHRE Current tax
—ARFERIE — Tax for the year 3,299 2,095
— BT FEBBEEE — Over provision in respect of prior year - (321)
3,299 il 774
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13 FRIERBAX @ 13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continuea)
ZK%@’E LERIR A R ) S AN 2 7R T8 B ER A K BB The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
REERRNERAZEARE16.5% (ZF amount that would arise using the primary tax rate of 16.5% (2021:
—E 116.5%) BHEMNIBRESB 2 EEAOT ¢ 16.5%) applicable to profit of the majority of the consolidated entities as
follows:
ot e e
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
PRPTSF AT T Profit before income tax 8,720 4,006
BEBMNZE16.5% (ZZE"—F  16.5%) Tax at the Hong Kong tax rate of 16.5%
HE>RE (2021: 16.5%) 1,439 661
MTFRBEBZRBEE Tax effects of:
— BRI Z WA - Income not subject to tax (108) (87)
—HENE 2 RES (NRRIE) — Associate’s result reported net of tax (48) (111)
—ARElREE - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 961 520
— BN ERE - Difference in overseas tax rates 871 664
— R RN EE - Effect of special tax exemption - (56)
—RERNIEBE 2 RIBELE - Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 393 526
— B RABFEARERIRIELIE — Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses (209) (22)
—BEFEBREEE — Over provision in respect of prior year - (321)
FRiSMBS Income tax expenses 3,299 i
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14 SRERN 14 EARNINGS PER SHARE
14.1 SERELXEH 14.1 Basic earnings per share
REABAMTIRAABIHEE AEMGR Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
FEMR AT BRFEFEZRTEIEBERZ attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
mEFHHTE - number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year:
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
SHEHESREABAFBZ Profit attributable to the ordinary equity
KNBEBERSE ARG holders of the Company used in calculating
vea ) basic earnings per share 5,421 2,232
SEEREABAKRESSZ Weighted average number of ordinary
LR INEEHE (FR) shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic earnings per share (‘000) 23,434 23,434
AR EEERGA ANEGEER Basic earnings per share attributable to the
BEARBRN (ERENM) ordinary equity holders of the Company
(HK cents per share) 23.13 9.52
14.2 SR#BERT 14.2 Diluted earnings per share
HRAFENRETEIINBETEERG Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as
WERBERANENERELARY CFT there was no dilutive potential share outstanding during the year
Z—F R e (2021: same).

Annual Report 2022 141



REMBEERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 ME -BERKXFEREBESTE 15

(@) M*F -BERRMHE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) Property, plant and equipment

HEME Rt R WAE
£ RE B 128 st
Leasehold Furniture Office
improvements  and fixtures equipment Machinery Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BE-_ZT—_—& Year ended 31 December 2021
+ZA=+—HLEE
FYREFE Opening net book value 22 23 203 3,395 3,643
ERES Exchange differences - () 4 - 3
hE Additions - - 48 = 48
WEER (Hit7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (22) (13) (83) (2,263) (2,381)
HE Disposals - - 45) - 45)
FREMFE Closing net book value - 9 127 1,132 1,268
RZEZ—F At 31 December 2021
+=ZB=+-H
(TN Cost 113 185 1,227 11,315 12,840
REinE Accumulated depreciation (113) (176) (1,100) (10,183) (11,572)
REEE Net book value - 9 127 1,132 1,268
HE_ZE_— Year ended 31 December 2022
+ZB=+—HLEE
FNREFE Opening net book value - 9 127 1,132 1,268
R =% Exchange differences - - (6) - 6)
wE Additions - - 28 - 28
WEER (I:7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) - (1) (64) (1,132) (1,197)
HE Disposals - ) {11) - (19)
FERREZFE Closing net book value = = 74 < 74
RZIBZZ At 31 December 2022
+ZB=+-H
A Cost 113 171 1,174 11,315 12,778
REE Accumulated depreciation (113) (171) (1,100) (11,315) (12,699)
REZE Net book value = S 74 = 74

KEBR _E__F+-_B=+—HFf

FAZHBEERBEETRAWBAR
BRAE— D EZF IR MEES3(c)°
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The machinery held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 was
temporarily leased to fellow subsidiaries, further summary details of
which are included in Note 33(c).
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15 ME - -BERREREHREEZE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

# RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
(b) FEREEE (b) Right-of-use assets
THI R IEF HE et
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FAET FAET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
N_ZZ—F—HF—H At 1 January 2021 1,055 - 1,055
NE Additions - 542 542
IwEER (Wat7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (706) (176) (882)
PE 72 = &8 Exchange differences 5 (30) (25)

WZEZ-—%+"H=+—H At 31 December 2021 and

rR-_E__F£—H—H 1 January 2022 354 336 690
NE Additions 4,303 - 4,303
MEER (Kat7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (1,297) (55) (1,352)
HE Disposals - (263) (263)
PE 52 Z= %8 Exchange differences (96) (18) (114)
RIZE-"HF+"H=+—H At 31 December 2022 3,264 = 3,264
ME - BEAREREREEEZR Depreciation expense of HK$2,549,000 (2021: HK$3,263,000) for
ER%2,549,0008 T (Z8 - —4&F : property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets has been
3,263,000/ 7t) BEst AT{TERESZ ] © charged in “administrative expenses”.
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16 ERIT A (ZLERIE9) 16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
AEBFBEUTEMIA The Group holds the following financial instruments:
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BE Assets
TEESMITA Derivative financial instrument 8,120 9,972
ZREEMEERGREATENEZ Financial asset at fair value through other
EREE comprehensive income 1,597 1,451
BB ER A EZ TR E E Financial assets at amortised cost:
JRE LS B R R EL Ath FE WK Trade and other receivables
(FEIEFENRIE) (excluding prepayments) 10,777 13,868
ZIREIERITER Restricted bank deposits = 31,194
HERFREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 138,122 98,850
=R Liabilities
RBER A EZ EREE Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

AR REMENT (FEEEM Trade and other payables (excluding other tax
ESIRIE s FERAIB KR EHEEEF]) payables, receipts in advance and accrued
employee benefits) 3,424 69,618
HEaR& Lease liabilities 3,373 723

AEEBBRMNEMMESM T AERRANZIE The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial

Al RIEPAREBENRAGEREHOS instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit risk

PR EEREEZIRMEE at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of
financial assets mentioned above.
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7 TTEEMTIA 17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
—E-= =
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BN —REBE AR Derivative financial instrument in relation to the
TESMIA (Hat12) interest in an associate (Note 12) 8,120 9,972

() ATEHE

EREEMETLREATEMABZEER
BRzER F2REMES.3°

(i) MREZAEIZEEHE

RAFER TEERMTAEZ AT EEEF
& 72 M 5£8.3(a)(iii)

TTEERMIT AT BT E.

EBE MR EIK A FES
BrzamEE

ERHEMEEKNERATEINEZEMEE

18

18

(i) Fair value measurement

For information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining the fair value of derivative, please refer to Note 3.3.

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

The change in the fair value of derivative financial instrument during
the year is set out in Note 3.3(a)(iii).

The derivative financial instrument is denominated in EUR.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income

= —E- 4

2022 2021

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

JEEMRAES Unlisted equity security 1,597 1,451

FRORAEEZHEMEZ2EKRERNESD QA FE
W #8146,0008 7T (Z T = —£F : £5186,00078 7T)
(Bt ££3.3(a)(iii) ) ©

FERZEBRREANRBEFTHRERNMAR
NREERIBED ANRARATN L EEFAERE
HEESHEEFEMERSHRAKERMBR
RWMZ AR W EIZ R AR

AR AEE ?%?ﬁ&éiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁt% ok
BENTHEMEERBEBHMEANER AT
BofE-

During the year, a fair value gain of HK$146,000 (2021: loss of HK$6,000)
was recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group (Note 3.3(a)

(i)

The Group’s strategic investments is a 9% interest in iMT Co., Ltd. This
company is not accounted for on an equity method as the Group does
not have the power to participate in its operating and financial policies,
evidenced by the lack of any direct or indirect involvement at board level.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at FVOCI| as the
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
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=k ==
19 FEURER Fr B H fth FE UL =R 19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

FAET FET

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FEUL AR X Trade receivables 6,656 13,403

¥4 <5 K EL At FE SRR Deposits and other receivables 4,121 465

BEEA AT EZ CREE Financial assets at amortised cost 10,777 13,868

TR R IE Prepayments 3,815 3,593

JFE U BR 78 R EL At FE UL FR 48 RB Total trade and other receivables 14,592 17,461
KREBABOHEENDALEN FegrEBxEE The majority of the Group’s sales are settled in advance. The remaining
ZIEERBENFI5E0H - RIB2"F K amounts are with credit terms generally ranging from 15 to 90 days.
TR F+ZHA=t+—H EHREREEE At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of the trade

HHRZEREDMWT - receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

—E--% —=-_

2022 2021

FAET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

KEPE Within 1 month 6,630 118, 1124

2ZE3@EH 2 to 3 months 26 280

@A U E Over 3 months - 2

6,656 13,403
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19

20

PR LSt Bl R B EL th FE UK )
(a) EMMERKER

W0 7 1 0% W [B] Y M Bl FE W R B B 4%
1R B T (B 8 o

5 REBKAE B H RS ERE9
S A At ERREERR SAMAR
WERRE A2 ARG EEE - AREY
BRRUBE R~ IR TUR BB BB DL
RAERRHZEERBRKRIINERRKRZ
BRI EES. 1 EE o

B R 1R R B R IR [E] e A B M EE 2 wR
RemEmlmERzMTHE R AE
FIReE tEEE 2 £ AR

RAEE > B 18 o e 50 FE AR FURLE
BENBERRE (CEZ—F )

(b) FEWIRARRHEMEBWRZATFE

MR R RN B AE AL E » HIREER
RIFRERFEMEE -

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuea)

(a)

(b)

Impaired trade receivables

Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

In addition, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the
provision for impairment of trade receivables, movement of
provision for impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in

Note 3.1.

Impairment losses and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income within “administrative expenses”.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, no provision or reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables was recognised in the profit or loss (2021: Nil).

Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

=78 20 INVENTORIES
Sy TET 4
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEEE MM Goods held for resale 1,563 55,525

BEZ-_ -+ "HA=+—HLILEE &
HFERMA#A337,347,0008 0 (CBE - —% 1 4
322,343,000/ 7t) ~FFE & E4946,0008 T

ZIEZ—F ! FEEEHL370,0008T) K
MEEFEAN9,0008 T (ZTZ—F | #itiE
E#92,00087T) FURERBIAL ) A TEEE R A ©
AR CE+ A=+ —H EFEEELNS
518,0007 7t (Z & — —£ : £93,091,000% 7t) °

Cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$337,347,000 (2021:
approximately HK$322,343,000), net inventory provision of approximately
HK$46,000 (2021: net inventory provision of approximately HK$370,000)
and inventories of approximately HK$9,000 were written off (2021:
written off of inventories of approximately HK$2,000) and included in
“cost of sales” during the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31
December 2022, the provision for inventories amounted to approximately
HK$518,000 (2021: approximately HK$3,091,000).
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4
21 WERFEEZEY 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FERE Cash on hand 8 26
RITHRE Cash at bank 138,114 98,824
138,122 98,850
RIEBE-_Z&#+"A=+—H0 > BHHBRITER As at 31 December 2022, the short-term bank deposits bear interest
BEFMRNTFO%EL43% (CB-—F | FFIX ranging from 0% to 4.3% per annum (2021: from 0% to 0.2% per annum)
NFO0%ZE0.2%) st 2 HPHAB=EA RN &K with maturity date within three months, and were therefore included in
FIARERIREEEY cash and cash equivalents.
22 g 22 SHARE CAPITAL
P& E (&N
Number of shares Share capital
—EICE B “EICH e s
2022 2021 2022 2021
Fhz i FET FET
‘000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT REE Issued and fully paid
R—B—HBE+ZB=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 23,434 23,434 4,687 4,687
(a) TiER (a) Ordinary shares
ZERZEER020BT HEFFEA Ordinary shares have a par value of HK$0.20. They entitle the
BH2EREREAFROEE R holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds
FRAZ PN IEARARER Z FTEMIE of winding up the Company in proportion to the number of and

amounts paid on the shares held.

KRB ZEERAER > 280,000,000 The Company has a limited amount of authorised capital of
7t > B #5400,000,0004% & 1B % © HK$80,000,000, comprising 400,000,000 ordinary shares.

(b) FHEBGHE (b) Options
BEZE—AEERESEZERER Information relating to the 2016 Option Scheme is set out in Note
Ff5E25 © 25.
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23 Hith{&ME 23 OTHER RESERVES
TRIRGEFHRLIEXER TEth#EE 28 The following table shows a breakdown of the consolidated statement of
MEZEFRERNTAEE2EF BHEECME financial position line item “other reserves” and the movements in these
KRR fmmE R T Re reserves during the year. A description of the nature and purpose of each

reserve is provided below the table.

BB
2ENE
BATESIE
RipEE ERf#E RHRE 2eRBE @it
Financial
Share  Translation Special asset at
premium reserve reserve FVOCI Total
izt FE7m FE7m FET FET FEr
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZE"ZE+"F=1+-H At 31 December 2020 183,006 24 14,990 (5) 198,015
AEEHMEENE Other comprehensive income for the year:
HEENERELZERER Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations - (1,471) - - (1,471)
FREMZENRRATESELZ Change in the fair value of
EnRBZ A TELE equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income 18 - - - 6) 6)
RIBZ-%+ZRA=+—H At 31 December 2021 183,006 (1,447) 14,990 (11) 196,538
AEEHMEENE Other comprehensive income for the year:
REBNEBELZERER Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations - (3,019) - - (3,015)
FhEMEARGRATETEZ Change in the fair value of
EakEZATELS equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income 18 - - - 146 146
RIBZZ&+ZRA=+-H At 31 December 2022 183,006 (4,462) 14,990 188 193,669
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23 Hit#E @
HiEE M ERAR
B E

BRAD (B Y5 A5 A B R 7 LU (B 88 17 B W B Z PRy
TREBHKRAOEmEBE > WHNRETRS
FTEEZHXZ-

SEREF

MEBITEERKMEARDEENERER
1 Bt 2 T Wi et 50 (BB 522, 6P ) e e #E it
NEBREBERS R BN LEREFER
ENoEEREWmK-

R

AEBZHENRFEEBEDIEREN _ZZ—FMA
ETEREERERAZRBAR G ZKRA
HERAADETRA EFARBEREZEEM
BZERE

ZBAMEANRGZHAFESEZEZMEER
&

AT ERE QRN RS BRI E 2R EE B
BHEEABORETEBEMEERERA
TENEZREREZ AT ERHILD -

23 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued as a premium, less expenses
incurred in connection with the issue of shares.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled
entity and associate are recognised in other comprehensive income
as described in Note 2.6 and accumulated in a separate reserve
within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to statement of
comprehensive income when the net investment is disposed of.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in April 2001 and
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition.

Financial asset at FVOCI reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair

value of equity investment designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that is
held at the end of the reporting period.

24 REtEsiE 24 ACCUMULATED LOSSES
AEBRFTEBIEZEEFHUT Movements in accumulated losses of the Group were as follows:
o o) B
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
w—A—H At 1 January (55,219) (57,451)
KEE @mH Profit for the year 5,421 2,232
R+ZB=+—H At 31 December (49,798) (55,219)
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25

WU A E R TR

RIZB-—ARE+—A+—BRMKZBERESS
(TZE—AEEREED)

BRERZF-—R"E+—-—B+—BBBRZRAE
o RABRM T —NFRRES B LR
BEEBCERZEENAAFFLHER > I
M4 REIRE EEHA T IHE 5 L7 B i & th
3> URBEEIMES  SHE AR B TFE K
AEREZGUNEREARE (BEFER
T RIFNTES BHABE-ZE2RR
NEH - RE-XOB HEE TR -BED
HRRBHER) BRHBRE UBBEEARDR

7o

REZT—NEREREEPIERE ZERE
PRS2 RN B8 T RBE LR AERE
BMEETRMINZ10% REAATRRELHA
HORERN—FARERALRERAIERS
ZEREMNS RZ BET R TETZRMDH
B A"RBAAATDNEMREEETRMNZ
1% HAETERIABILFATEEREZ
BREBBARATDRAEZ0A%HEEEER
5,000,000 70 BELISA AR KRB E -

FERRAE R LU B TR W > WA R I B HE
SFEEHAER -EREDINESEIEEEZ
HBABERITE EARABRASEAERY
A+ E -RBEEHHRESTTET  BF R
BRTIERSE (A2 TRAREL AR @
ARXFZH) NEHRERMREHE ; (XA
BRMPIEERLAHPANAEXZ BESHRK
BRAKZ FHRHE ; S(ilF28RMDZE
E

BERM T NEBRESZ AL BER
R -

25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share Option Scheme adopted on 11 November 2016 (the “2016
Option Scheme”)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 November 2016, the 2016 Option
Scheme was adopted to recognise and motivate the contribution of the
eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Company in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional employees for
a term of ten years. The Board of the Company may at its discretion
grant options to any employees, including Executive and Non-executive
Directors, consultants, advisers, substantial shareholders, distributors,
agents, contractors, suppliers, customers, business partners and service
providers of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2016 Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Option may be granted at a consideration of HK$1 and should be
accepted within seven days from the date of grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during the period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Daily
Quotation Sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (i)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Daily Quotation Sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share options were granted since the date of adoption of the 2016
Option Scheme.
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26 FE(TERFR R H fthFE{F R 26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEATER TR Trade payables 1,536 67,554
Bl E Deposit received 709 600
HhpEiRE Other tax payables 994 2,200
TR E R R E MBI Accruals and other payables 2,512 2,649
5,751 73,003
HREBREHPEEE BNRFIREMESRZ The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to
RAERGAREAFTEER RZITEZZ be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. At 31
EZEZ—F+ZRB=+—H EBNERREZE December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of the trade payables
ERMAZRE2TUWT : based on invoice date were as follows:
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1B A Within 1 month 1,536 67,412
2ZE3EH 2 to 3 months - 142
1,536 67,554
27 HE 27 LEASES
AEESHZEE URBAZEHD) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
AEBRERKREMmES 2REHES THRE The Group leases a number of properties and vehicles with fixed periodic
AERSEZNEERENMERSE REHRE rent over the lease terms in the jurisdictions from which it operates.
EEEMRBRZEELR Leases of vehicles comprise only fixed payments over the lease terms.
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1: =
27 HE = 27 LEASES (continuea)
AEESHzEE URBAZEM) (&) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) (continued)
HEEeHN ERAREN
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
2H FET
—E-__H#+”-B=+—H 31 December 2022 Number HK$’000
BEMMzYERE Property leases with fixed payments 4 3,373
AEEE Vehicle leases - -
HEEHN ERENEA
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
L g=] FAET
T T —=kEar — 5| =9r—F 31 December 2021 Number HK$ 000
BN ZYERE Property leases with fixed payments 2 378
AEEE Vehicle leases 1 345
EHEEE Right-of-use assets
HEMEERNE D2 ERAEEERTAED T The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of
W underlying asset is as follows:
— T =T = =
1= B =l S i = e =]
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRAEYE  RITER LA Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost 3,264 354
AE RITERATE Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost - 336
3,264 690
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HE @

27 LEASES (continued)

HEaE Lease liabilities
TR IEF _E Et
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FET
—EZZH&+ZA=+—~H 31 December 2022 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
RE Additions 4,303 - 4,303
FEREXZ Interest expenses 103 5 108
FEN=ENEN Lease payments 1,383 60 1,443
AEZIE Lease termination - (272) (272)
EER =) Foreign exchange movements (28) (18) (46)
THIRIETF RE a5t
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FET
e = e e ] 31 December 2021 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
wnE Additions - 542 542
FERX Interest expenses 40 23 63
FEN=ENEN Lease payments 762 190 952
BE R H) Foreign exchange movements 3 (30) (27)
ARBEMNTNEBBERAOT Future lease payments are due as follows:
RIEHECR M RE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
B F = R el —E-C
= =SR=H Gl A=l El e H ===
31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2022
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
— &K Not later than one year 2,118 123 1,995
—FRERFBARE Later than one year and not later
than two years 1,407 29 1,378
3,525 152 3,373
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27 HE »

HE&E (&

27 LEASES (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

REAEMNR B RME
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
+=-B=+—H +Z=ZHA=+—H +=ZB=+—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2021 2021
FAET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
—FR Not later than one year 564 19 545
—FRERFBAME Later than one year and not later
than two years 183 5 178
747 24 723
—E_C B —F
2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
MENBE Current liabilities 1,995 545
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 1,378 178
3,373 728
g ST
2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
SHATRER Short term lease expenses 358 386
RELIRFTHATE EARIE 4R AR Aggregate undiscounted commitments
for short term leases 1 114
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28 RIEFRER

28.1 REMRELBE &GE

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

28.1 Deferred tax assets/liabilities

ERRDEERBEEE BB ZFERE

Detail of deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised and movements

£

are as follows:

MIERIRIRITER
Accelerated tax
depreciation

FAET
HK$'000
RZTEZEHF+_HF=+—H At 31 December 2020 181
T AEB@ Credit to profit or loss (181)
A ZE I —ERIEITHF At 31 December 2021 and 2022
+=A=+-8 -
28.2 fRIEKSIE 28.2 Tax losses
2022 2021
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
REREIERIEEE 2 Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax
RENERIEE 1B asset has been recognised 46,561 45,393
BAEEEREEMEEANZ Potential tax benefit at domestic tax rate for
MEFEZ BERBEMNE which the Group’s entities operate 7,740 7,409
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28 IRIEFRIEMR @ 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
28.2 TRIERSIE (&2 28.2 Tax losses (continued)
FEBARIEEBEBILRAER TR RER The unused tax losses were incurred by the Group companies that
BELEFRVBNAZEAERRRAEE -H are not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future.
ERRRESBEZERNRMMERME See Note 28.1 for information about recognised tax losses and
H 2 & A H T B K 5E28.1 R MisE4(c) o ¥ Note 4(c) for significant judgements made in relation to income tax.
TECCHFFTA=+—8B XBAKRE As at 31 December 2022, the unused tax losses are as follows:
BB -
2022 2021
FAET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
KU EMEEA - Expiry date in:
ZE T RFE 2026 136 136
—EtF 2027 746 746
—E)N\FE 2028 1,270 1,270
—ETNF 2029 1,557 1,557
TE=FF 2030 788 788
—E=—4F 2031 2,332 2,332
b 2032 2,054 -
EI A No expiry date 37,679 38,564
46,562 45,393
29 IR 29 DIVIDENDS
EEERAKNBE_E__F+=-A=+— The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
HEFEZRARE CEZ—F 8- year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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30 REREEW

BEEBEL (A ZHE

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

2022 2021
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
PRPTIS AT T Profit before income tax 8,720 4,006
FTHNIEEEH AL . Adjustments for:
ME -BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,197 2,381
FRESERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,352 882
FTEEREE Net provision for inventories 46 370
MHFE Write off of inventories 9 2
HEREZ W Gain on disposal of lease (9) -
IR0 Finance costs 108 63
TESMIBZAFYE (BB518) Wz Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial
instruments 1,010 (494)
R—EER Bz R 2 HERE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 275 164
IRITFERAE WA Interest income from bank deposits (652) (39)
HEWME BB REEZ WG Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment - (10)
AR EARZ B Share of net profit of an associate accounted
— R Bt 2 ) Al A for using the equity method (292) (673)
SEETEEHR 2 KE T Operating profit before working capital change 11,764 6,652
REBEERARZEE Change in operating assets and liabilities
=FERL, (gm) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 53,226 (23,446)
e LSt BR R e EL A FE W RURI 2>~ (3 0) Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables 2,619 (15,045)
FE{TBR TR R EL A (S 7=k CRtZL) /180 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (64,702) 26,850
=Y Sh=REbi Increase in contract liabilities 2,122 8 g
REXEBESX/ (FTA) 2R Cash generated from/(used in) operations 5,029 (3,592)

REEEHREREBRN HEVE -MEKRREZ

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of

FRri8RIE a4 - property, plant and equipment comprise:
—_E-C B Y e
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREFEE B1a215) Net book amount (Note 15) 19 45
HEYE MEKRKRB W (Bfz27)  Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7) - 10
HEME BERKREZMENIE Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment 19 56!
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31 WERERMEE

31 NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
fHEaE
Lease
liabilities
Kizt27
Note 27
FAET
HK$’000
R-_E_——A—H At 1 January 2021 1,097
REREEH . Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (889)
BEEESBEZNERD Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (63)
MERS RSB Total changes from financing cash flows (952)
PE A% Exchange adjustment: (27)
Hfh &) Other changes:
hE Additions 542
HEF S Lease interests 63
H{th & B4R %8 Total other changes 605
R_EBE-_—F+"HA=+—HK At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
2" "%—HF—H 723
REREEH . Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,335)
BEEEaBEZMERD Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (108)
MERSRESEHELE Total changes from financing cash flows (1,443)
BB S Exchange adjustment: (46)
Hthg g Other changes:
hE Additions 4,303
HEFS Lease interests 108
ME&IE Lease termination (272)
Hihs)4a%E Total other changes 4,139
RE__F+"_H=+—H At 31 December 2022 3,878
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ZIR&EIRITEMR 32 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
—¥=C —Eo
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ZIRHISRITERR Restricted bank deposits = 31,194

RIB-__&E#+-"A=+—H ' HERHE
TER - RZBEZ—F+ZHA=+—H" %
RPAEBEZIRITAES,000,0005% 7T (M5
" #962,388,0008 7t) WA ZIRITER AL
4,000,000 7t (HHE 1 49381,194,00078 75) ° A&
EERBEE_ZE_—F+A=+—HIHEK
EF&HX?EHE%‘LXm%ﬁﬁ’éﬁéffwﬁﬂaﬁ
oﬁ\fvffEJr B=+—8  ZR&IRIT
EERBIEE A TEHFE R 230,975,0008 7T 0 £
FEAZ0.2% N _E__F=FEHo

RBE_E__&+_RB=+—HILEEE =&

No bank deposit was pledged as at 31 December 2022. As at 31
December 2021, a bank deposit of approximately US$4,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$31,194,000) was pledged for bank
facility amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$62,388,000) granted to the Group. Such bank facility was drawn by
the Group to issue a standby letter of credit to a vendor in the financial
year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, included in
restricted bank balance is HK$30,975,000 placed as fixed deposit at an
interest rate of 0.2% per annum with maturity in March 2022.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its banking

EEEETHBTHEZMERG- facilities during the year ended 31 December 2022.
FEALRS 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) BRFE (a) Parent entities
REBERUTERES : The Group is controlled by the following entities:
EEREEET
BHEEEEEZ AT DL
REATE 515 kir & B (8 %9)
Percentage of
the issued share
Number of capital of
shares held/ the Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited Immediate holding company 11,853,524 50.58%
BEERAT
Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Ultimate holding company 11,853,524 50.58%

BEEETIEROHBRAE

K3 . Foxconn (Far East) Limited% B8 152 T
ERKERATAZEZEWBAT -

”\?‘EHH/'\

Note: Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai
Precision Industry Co. Ltd.
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33 FAEALTRSZ @

(b)

(c)

(d)

FTEEEABZHHE

FTEEEBEEES (T ERTRE
MIEHIT) o MEBEEREERFTEAUME
NETEEEEBZHETRNOT :

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b)

Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes directors (executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive). The compensation paid or payable
to key management for directors and employee services is shown
below:

2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EREMGHES RN Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 780 780
BRAEALTETZRS (c) Transactions with related parties

HREBEANTETZRZUT

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

—F-C- T
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
R SEEEHZERHEE Sales of goods to Hon Hai Group 190 107
AEEEEINZEEBREER Repair services charges paid to
Hon Hai Group 261 -
m—ER KB A B WEH A= Office administration support charges
BIEIFER received from a fellow subsidiary 216 -
TMAEKRERARZMBAT T Operating lease charges paid to fellow
KREHEER subsidiaries in respect of an office and
warehouse 288 158
i Egis A ONEIE EY I EYAE Operating lease charges received
WA ST E & A from fellow subsidiaries in respect of
machinery rental income 2,400 2,400

PR BB ZE S ER ZBRET-

RITHME

RIE__F+_A=+—H > x&EET
EERTMERETRE-

N_BE-_—FE+-"BA=+—H &&=
BB —2HEREHNERERASEN
$R1TR1E8,000,000F T (ZB = —F :
8,000,000%7T) JhHA AR R EHK B A
FERHNA BB RIEEIR

(d)

The above transactions were conducted at negotiated prices
between transacting parties.

Banking facility

No bank facility was granted to the Group as at 31 December
2022.

As at 31 December 2021, the bank facility of the Group in relation
to a standby letter of credit to a vendor of US$8,000,000 (2021:
US$8,000,000) were supported by corporate guarantees given by
the Company and its subsidiaries.
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34 FATIZHBRARRAEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
5| RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

ERFZHBRAR Statement of financial position of the Company
haat=Hi=tt— H
As at 31 December
= F == e
2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
EREEE Non-current assets
KRB AT ZKE Investment in subsidiaries 10 10
JE U B [ A B ®RIE Amount due from subsidiaries 109,841 112,770
____________________________ 109,851 112,780
TEEE Current assets
AN RIERIZE Prepayments and deposits 335 392
HERFREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 134 152
______________________________ 469 544
mEE Total assets 110,320 113,324
i Equity
ERBEE ANELER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
[ Share capital 4,687 4,687
15w 1E Share premium 183,006 183,006
ik Accumulated losses (77,841) (74,589)
Y Total equity 109,852 113,104
=R Liabilities
Gk =N} Current liabilities
sHEEH Accruals 468 220
MEEmkEE Total equity and liabilities 110,320 113,324
KRB ZHMBRRREEETEN _SE_=ZF= The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
ATHEZAETR NMIEEAREETEEE Board of Directors on 14 March 2023 and was signed on its behalf
HIAREE BEREE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
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34 AT ZHBFRAR R #HEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

& RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
ERABZHEE Reserve movement of the Company
B 17 it B RitE1E st
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
FAET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
N_E_-_—F—HF—H At 1 January 2021 183,006 (71,743) 111,263
KEEEE Loss for the year = (2,846) (2,846)
RZE_—%+"HA=+—H At 31 December 2021 183,006 (74,589) 108,417
WZE-__#—F—H At 1 January 2022 183,006 (74,589) 108,417
KEEEBE Loss for the year = (3,252) (3,252)
RZE_-H+Z“H=+—H At 31 December 2022 183,006 (77,841) 105,165
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

=
E 3 RESULTS
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
=T N\F "IETHF Ermedie et SR — —
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
FAET FAET FAET FAET FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 299,109 332,884 372,959 349,870 368,160
FRFFERATEA (B518) Profit/(Loss) before income tax (18,772) 3,379 10,965 4,006 8,720
FTiSMiB Income tax expense (834) (890) (1,968) (1,774) (3,299)
AEE @Al () Profit/(Loss) for the year (14,606) 2,489 8,997 2,232 5,421
BT ATEEEREE Profit/(Loss) for the year
wH L (B548) - attributable to:
—KXREEE A — Owners of the Company (14,601) 2,489 8,997 2,232 5,421
—JEEER - Non-controlling interests (5) - = = -
(14,606) 2,489 8,997 2,232 5,421
= =
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R r=/E =Earmls
As at 31 December
—E-N\F ZE—hfF EEZHF T ZTZZ
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
FAET FET FAET FAET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
MEE Total assets 147,912 150,685 194,268 223,948 173,385
e Total liabilities (16,310)  (17,320)  (49,017)  (77,942)  (13,341)
131,602 133,365 1457254 146,006 160,044
BRI ARG ZE R KR | Capital and reserves attributable to:
—KABEE AN — Owners of the Company 132,093 133,860 145,251 146,006 148,558
—JEERER - Non-controlling interests (491) (495) s = 11,486
131,602 133,365 145,251 146,006 160,044
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